From the Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Section of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

# RENAL DOPPLER RESISTIVE INDEX: APPLICATIONS IN PERIOPERATIVE AND CRITICAL CARE

Mårten Renberg



Stockholm 2024

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2024 © Mårten Renberg, 2024 ISBN 978-91-8017-300-1 Cover illustration: Jens Caap Hällgren and Joanna Caap Hällgren

# Renal Doppler resistive index: applications in perioperative and critical care

### Thesis for Doctoral Degree (Ph.D.)

By

### Mårten Renberg, M.D.

The thesis will be defended in public at Torsten Gordh Auditorium, May 3, 2024, 09:00.

#### **Principal Supervisor:**

Max Bell, MD, Associate Professor Karolinska Institutet Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Section of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care

#### Co-supervisors:

Daniel Hertzberg, MD, PhD Karolinska Institutet Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Section of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care

Claire Rimes-Stigare, MD, PhD Karolinska Institutet Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Section of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care

Matteo Bottai, Professor Karolinska Institutet Department of Environmental Medicine Unit of Biostatistics

#### Opponent:

Niklas Nielsen, MD, Professor Lund University Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Helsingborg

#### **Examination Board:**

Peter Frykholm, MD, Associate Professor Uppsala University Department of Surgical Sciences Section of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care

Agnes Modin, MD, Associate Professor Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Science and Education Södersjukhuset

Hans Furuland, MD, Associate Professor Uppsala University Department of Medical Sciences Division of Renal Medicine

To my amazing fan club at home:

Sara, Selma, and Ines.

"As long as you believe, then it is possible." Le Professeur on his Invincibles

### Popular science summary of the thesis

Renal dysfunction poses a threat to patients undergoing surgery or admitted to intensive care units, and negatively impacts survival of those affected. Early identification of these patients, or of patients at an increased risk of future renal dysfunction, is crucial to be able to optimize treatment and improve prognosis. This thesis, comprising of four scientific studies, explored the potential of a rapid ultrasound examination of the renal blood flow, known as the renal resistive index (RRI), for early detection of patients at risk of renal dysfunction after surgery or during intensive care. Additionally, the occurrence and risk factors for long-lasting renal dysfunction, or chronic kidney disease, after surgery in Sweden were investigated.

In the first study, the RRI method was used on volunteers by two non-experts and one expert. We demonstrated that the method was easy for the non-experts to learn, and therefore has the potential to be widely implemented in healthcare. In the second study, the RRI method was used on around 50 patients admitted to intensive care with COVID-19 during the first wave of the pandemic in Sweden. We discovered a link between high RRI values and acute renal dysfunction, indicating altered renal blood flow, and that the RRI method promptly could identify these patients at the bedside. In the third study, we investigated data from Swedish nationwide public authority and quality registers including almost 240 000 patients that had undergone surgery. Pronounced chronic kidney disease within the first year after surgery affected less than 1%, but we identified several important risk factors that could help recognize these patients at an early stage. Notably, those who developed renal dysfunction in the nearby period after surgery exhibited an increased risk of chronic kidney disease. In the fourth study, the RRI method was used on almost 100 patients undergoing cardiac surgery. We discovered a link between an elevated RRI value before surgery and long-lasting renal dysfunction, as well as other serious conditions such as heart attack, heart failure, and stroke, up to five years after surgery.

Overall, this thesis suggests that most physicians working with patients undergoing surgery or in intensive care effectively can learn the RRI method. RRI holds promise in identifying certain patients with acute renal dysfunction, as well as patients at an increased risk of developing chronic kidney disease after surgery. In this way, RRI may help pinpoint patients in need of extended measures aimed at minimizing the negative effects of renal dysfunction.

### Abstract

Doppler-derived renal resistive index (RRI) has emerged as a promising bedside tool for assessing renal hemodynamics, and elevated values ≥0.70 have been associated with adverse outcomes in various clinical settings. This thesis explored new aspects of RRI within perioperative and critical care, as well as the epidemiology of long-term renal outcomes after surgery in Sweden.

In **study I**, we assessed the feasibility of RRI as a point-of-care ultrasound (POCUS) method. After a focused teaching session, an intermediate (resident) and a novice sonographer (medical student) performed RRI measurements in 23 volunteers, and the results were compared to measurements by an expert. Measurements by both non-experts were reliable, accurate and showed clinically acceptable precision.

In **study II**, RRI was measured in 51 patients with Coronavirus disease 2019 during the first wave of the pandemic in six intensive care units at two sites of the Karolinska University Hospital. In these patients, RRI was generally elevated, associated with acute kidney injury, and seemed to decrease dynamically with renal recovery.

In **study III**, perioperative data from 23 Swedish hospitals were matched with extensive national public authority and quality registries. Among 237 124 patients without preoperative renal dysfunction undergoing non-cardiac surgery, 0.67% developed advanced chronic kidney disease, and 7.1% developed major adverse kidney events (advanced chronic kidney disease, kidney failure, or all-cause death) within the first postoperative year. We identified several perioperative risk factors for these outcomes, including advanced acute kidney disease within 90 days after surgery.

In **study IV**, associations of preoperative RRI with long-term renal and cardiovascular outcomes were investigated in 96 patients who had undergone on-pump cardiac surgery at the Karolinska University Hospital. RRI ≥0.70 was associated with persistent renal dysfunction, major adverse kidney events (persistent renal dysfunction, renal replacement therapy, or all-cause death), and major adverse cardiovascular events (myocardial infarction, unstable angina, decompensated heart failure, stroke, or cardiovascular death) within 5 years after surgery.

In conclusion, this thesis suggests that RRI can be used as a POCUS method with implications for assessing renal outcomes in perioperative and critical care, both in the short and long term. Further, this thesis sheds light on the epidemiology and important risk factors for postoperative long-term renal outcomes. RRI may have a role as a bedside measure to identify patients with an elevated risk for such outcomes.

# List of scientific papers

- I. Feasibility of renal resistive index measurements performed by an intermediate and novice sonographer in a volunteer population Renberg M, Kilhamn N, Lund K, Hertzberg D, Rimes-Stigare C, Bell M Ultrasound J. 2020 May 20;12(1):28
- II. Renal resistive index is associated with acute kidney injury in COVID-19 patients treated in the intensive care unit Renberg M, Jonmarker O, Kilhamn N, Rimes-Stigare C, Bell M, Hertzberg D Ultrasound J. 2021 Feb 5;13(1):3
- III. Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease after Surgery and the Contribution of Acute Kidney Disease: A National Observational Cohort Study Renberg M, Hertzberg D, Rimes-Stigare C, Hallqvist L, Bell M Manuscript accepted in Br J Anaesth, 2024 Feb (in press)
- IV. Association of Preoperative Renal-Resistive Index With Long-term Renal and Cardiovascular Outcomes After Cardiac Surgery Renberg M, Sartipy U, Bell M, Hertzberg D J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2024 Jan;38(1):101–108

### Contents

1	Introduction1				
2	Literature review				
	2.1	Renal dysfunction	2		
	2.2	Ultrasound	7		
	2.3	Renal resistive index	8		
	2.4	Critical COVID-19 and the kidney	16		
	2.5	Thesis rationale	16		
3	Rese	arch aims	17		
4	Mate	erials and methods	18		
	4.1	RRI measurements	19		
	4.2	Data sources	19		
	4.3	Statistical analysis	20		
	4.4	Study I	21		
	4.5	Study II	22		
	4.6	Study III	23		
	4.7	Study IV	25		
	4.8	Ethical considerations	26		
5	Resu	lts	27		
	5.1	Study I	27		
	5.2	Study II	28		
	5.3	Study III	29		
	5.4	Study IV	32		
6	Discussion				
	6.1	Main findings	34		
	6.2	Methodological considerations	34		
	6.3	Clinical perspective	39		
7	Cond	clusions	43		
8	Futu	re perspectives	44		
9	Acknowledgements				
10	References				

# List of abbreviations

ACEi	Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor
AKD	Acute kidney disease
AKI	Acute kidney injury
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
ASA score	American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status classification
ATC	Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical classification
AUC	Area under the receiver operator characteristics curve
B mode	Brightness-modulated mode
BMI	Body mass index
CEUS	Contrast-enhanced ultrasonography
CI	Confidence interval
CKD	Chronic kidney diease
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
HR	Hazard ratio
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision
ICU	Intensive care unit
IQR	Interquartile range
KDIGO	Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes
LoA	Limits of agreement
MACE	Major adverse cardiovascular events
MAKE	Major adverse kidney events
NPV	Negative predictive value
OR	Odds ratio
POCUS	Point-of-care ultrasound
PPV	Positive predictive value
PW Doppler	Pulsed-wave Doppler
RBF	Renal blood flow
RCWP	Renal capillary wedge pressure
RPP	Renal perfusion pressure
RRI	Renal resistive index
RRT	Renal replacement therapy
RVR	Renal vascular resistance
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory coronavirus 2
SCr	Serum creatinine concentration
SD	Standard deviation
SHR	Subdistribution hazard ratio
VExUS	Venous excess ultrasound

# 1 Introduction

*"If you don't look, you don't know!"* Josh Zimmerman, POCUS ninja

Point-of-care ultrasound (POCUS) refers to ultrasonography performed and interpreted at the bedside by the treating clinician[1]. The POCUS exam typically is rapid and goaloriented, and its result can be instantly integrated into clinical decision-making. POCUS has emerged as an integral component of the physical examination and ultrasound imaging, or insonation, has gained recognition as the fifth pillar of bedside assessment together with inspection, palpation, percussion, and auscultation[2].

With growing interest, training opportunities, and accessibility, the basic ultrasound level of clinicians is steadily rising. POCUS protocols for clinicians working with the sickest and most fragile patients have evolved from fundamental assessments of circulatory and respiratory failure to involve a multi-organ approach, utilizing increasingly advanced ultrasound techniques[3, 4]. Given the significant consequences of renal dysfunction in perioperative and critical care, renal POCUS incorporating some of these advanced techniques has emerged as a promising tool[5]. However, challenges arise concerning the reliability of ultrasonography performed by non-expert sonographers in these settings, and the clinical utility of renal POCUS for assessing outcomes, both in the short and long term, is not established.

This thesis investigated the role of bedside quantification of renal perfusion using Doppler ultrasound for assessing renal outcomes in perioperative and critical care. Specifically, we studied the renal resistive index (RRI) and its feasibility as a POCUS tool, its association with short-term renal outcomes in patients with critical Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), and its association with long-term renal and cardiovascular outcomes in surgical patients. Additionally, this thesis explored the nationwide epidemiology of postoperative long-term renal outcomes in Sweden.

# 2 Literature review

#### 2.1 Renal dysfunction

Renal dysfunction is characterized by loss of the many regulatory functions of the kidneys, which leads to retention of metabolism waste products and impaired volume, electrolyte, and acid-base homeostasis[6, 7]. Symptoms and clinical course depend on severity, duration, and underlying cause of the dysfunction. Regardless of the setting, renal dysfunction is associated with adverse patient outcomes.

#### Definitions

Historically, the absence of uniform definitions has impeded coordination of research and clinical practice concerning renal dysfunction. The first consensus definition for acute renal dysfunction was published two decades ago and has since then undergone periodic updates[8, 9]. As of 2012, renal dysfunction is defined based on its onset and duration using the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) criteria (*Table 1*) [10–12].

Table 1. Definitions of renal dysfunction.				
	Functional criteria	Structural criteria	Duration	
AKI	Increase in SCr by ≥50% within 7 days, or Increase in SCr by ≥26.5 µmol/I (0.3 mg/dI) within 48 hours, or Oliguria <0.5 ml/kg/h for ≥6 hours	Not defined	≤7 days	
AKD	AKI, or GFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m², or Decrease in GFR by ≥35%, or Increase in SCr by >50%	Marker of kidney damage (commonly albuminuria, hematuria, or pyuria)	≤3 months	
СКД	GFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> (in absence of structural criteria)	Marker of kidney damage (commonly albuminuria)	>3 months	

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is the most acute form of renal dysfunction, and is defined as an increase in serum creatinine concentration (SCr) or a decrease in urine output[10]. It is diagnosed solely based on these functional criteria, without requiring evidence of structural kidney damage. Severity is categorized from stage 1 to 3, and is determined by SCr thresholds or the duration of oliguria. Patients treated with renal replacement therapy (RRT) are classified as having AKI stage 3. Transient AKI recovers within 48 hours, whereas AKI lasting beyond this timeframe is considered persistent[13].

Acute kidney disease (AKD) extends beyond 7 days but remains shorter than 3 months, with its definition recently updated in 2021[11]. AKD may start as an AKI episode, but also includes more subtle renal function abnormalities developed over a longer period. Diagnosis is based on functional criteria or evidence of structural kidney damage, usually albuminuria. A reduced glomerular filtration rate (GFR) may serve as a functional criterion, either estimated using formulas based on SCr or cystatin C (eGFR), or measured directly.

*Chronic kidney disease* (CKD) is renal dysfunction persisting for more than 3 months with impact on health[12]. Diagnosis is based on decreased GFR or evidence of kidney damage, such as albuminuria, biopsy findings, or abnormalities on imaging. Severity is graded from 1 to 5 based on GFR thresholds. In absence of kidney damage markers, GFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, representing CKD grade 3, is required for diagnosis. CKD grade 4 (GFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) represents advanced CKD, and CKD grade 5 (GFR <15 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) represents end-stage renal disease or kidney failure.

In summary, renal dysfunction can be viewed as a continuum of interconnected syndromes spanning from acute to chronic presentations[14]. The AKD definition acknowledges the significant subset of patients with evolving kidney disease who may not fulfil strict criteria for AKI or CKD. Renal recovery is generally defined as the restoration of GFR to within 25% of baseline or to a minimum of 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> [10, 11].

#### Epidemiology

Reported incidence of AKI, AKD and transition to CKD in the perioperative and critical care settings vary due to heterogenicity in definitions and patient populations. AKI has received the most attention, and affects over 50% of patients treated in the intensive care unit (ICU)[15]. The major causes are sepsis, accounting for ~50% of cases, and major surgery[16]. Among patients undergoing major surgery, almost 20% develop postoperative AKI with an incidence of over 40% in certain types of cardiac surgery[17]. Recent meta-analyses including over 2 million patients with AKI and over 1 million patients with AKD respectively, demonstrated an elevated risk of long-term development of CKD, kidney failure and mortality across different clinical settings[18, 19]. While the role of AKD for the AKI to CKD transition has been studied in detail in patients undergoing cardiac surgery[20, 21], its impact in non-cardiac surgical settings remains less understood. Additionally, incidence of CKD following surgery or critical care when also considering patients without early evident AKI remains unknown.

In-hospital mortality among ICU patients who do not recover from an AKI episode may be as high as 50%, with 1-year mortality exceeding 20% among those discharged from the hospital[22]. Critically ill patients with AKI who die in the hospital do it mainly from sepsis or cardiovascular events[23], whereas long-term mortality is attributed to cancer and cardiovascular disease[24]. Recognizing CKD, kidney failure, and death as competing outcomes, their composite endpoint termed major adverse kidney events (MAKE) has been proposed as a patient-centered outcome[25], and may affect up to 40% of AKIsurvivors within the first year after hospital discharge[26]. The close interplay between renal dysfunction and cardiovascular disease suggests that also composite cardiovascular outcomes, such as major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE), may be pertinent in these patients[27].

#### **Risk factors and pathogenesis**

All stages of the AKI to CKD continuum share common risk factors[6, 14]. Non-modifiable risk factors include older age, hypertension, diabetes mellitus and heart failure. In perioperative and ICU settings, additional modifiable risk factors such as anemia, fluid overload, and exposure to nephrotoxins are important[6].

Traditionally, the precipitating mechanisms for the development of AKI have been categorized into prerenal (low renal blood flow [RBF]), renal (intrinsic kidney injury), or postrenal (urinary tract obstruction). However, in clinical practice, multiple overlapping pathophysiological mechanisms coexist such as hypotension, venous congestion, the neuroendocrine response to the underlying disease process or surgery, and renal inflammatory processes[6, 7, 16]. These mechanisms are further influenced by the underlying risk profile of the individual patient, and by the clinical course. The complex

interplay of multiple precipitating factors makes it challenging to identify specific AKI phenotypes at which specific therapeutic interventions can be targeted.

While an adaptive repair process may restore renal structure and function if the initial AKI process is reversed, complete renal recovery is probably uncommon[6, 13]. Instead, each renal insult should be viewed as a "hit" on the kidneys, rendering them more susceptible to future damage. In cases of non-reversal of the AKI process, persistent inflammation leads to tubulointerstitial fibrosis and nephron loss[14]. This maladaptive repair process predisposes renal non-recovery and transition from AKI to AKD and CKD.

#### Role of renal blood flow

During resting conditions, the kidneys receive ~25% of cardiac output. RBF is autoregulated within physiological blood pressure limits, which maintains a constant net filtration pressure in the glomeruli and stable GFR[28]. According to Ohm's law, RBF is determined by the pressure difference between renal arterial inflow and venous outflow, known as the renal perfusion pressure (RPP), and by the renal vascular resistance (RVR). In clinical practice, RPP is typically calculated as the difference between mean arterial pressure and central venous pressure[16]. Autoregulation of RBF in response to changes in RPP involves two major mechanisms[28]. Firstly, the myogenic response causes instantaneous contraction or dilation of afferent arterioles in response to changes in transmural pressure, thereby adjusting RVR. Secondly, alterations in RBF and GFR lead to changes in tubular delivery of NaCI to the macula densa of the juxtaglomerular apparatus, triggering contraction or dilation of afferent arterioles, again adjusting RVR accordingly. Additionally, RBF and RVR are influenced by numerous hormonal (e.g. angiotensin II, prostaglandins, nitric oxide) and neural signals (e.g. sympathetic nerve activity).

In patients with renal dysfunction, these autoregulatory mechanisms may be impaired, rendering the kidneys vulnerable to fluctuations in RBF, RPP or RVR. Alterations in both renal macro- and microcirculation are considered major pathophysiological contributors to renal dysfunction[16]. RBF may be hindered on a macrocirculatory level from hypotension and low cardiac output states, or from venous congestion causing impaired renal venous outflow. Conversely, in the early stages of sepsis, global RBF may be increased, but microcirculatory disturbances result in periglomerular shunting, leading to impaired blood flow to the renal medulla and risk of medullary hypoxia[29, 30]. Prolonged circulatory alterations may thus contribute to renal vascular remodeling and rarefaction, increased RVR, and the maladaptive renal repair process.

#### **Treatment and prevention**

The primary treatment for AKI revolves around addressing the underlying cause and enabling renal recovery by correcting pathophysiological mechanisms. The KDIGO care bundle summarizes these supportive steps and emphasizes the importance of optimizing RPP and volume status while avoiding nephrotoxins[31]. When implemented early in high-risk patients, this bundle has demonstrated efficacy in reducing the incidence and severity of postoperative AKI after cardiac surgery[32, 33] and major abdominal surgery[34]. In cases of AKI accompanied by severe disturbances of homeostasis, RRT may be initiated. Three out of four randomized controlled trials have failed to demonstrate a mortality benefit from early RRT initiation in absence of absolute indications[35–38]. Consequently, a "watch and wait"-strategy is often advocated[39], although delaying RRT beyond a certain point may also be harmful[40].

To enhance renal recovery and prevent progression from AKI and AKD to CKD, systematic follow-up by nephrologists have been advocated[41]. Focus is on early detection and avoidance of new kidney insults, and recognition and optimization of blood pressure and glycemic control. However, patient selection for such follow-up has shown to be challenging[42], and easily accessible measures to identify high-risk patients are warranted. Randomized controlled trials have indicated a slower CKD-progression in patients receiving medications that influence RBF, again suggesting the central role of RBF in determining renal outcomes[43, 44].

#### Implications for new diagnostic methods

The definitions for renal dysfunction have important limitations, especially when applied to critically ill patients. Firstly, the requirement of knowing the baseline SCr presents a challenge, as this information is often unavailable for patients admitted to the ICU or undergoing emergency surgery, necessitating estimation methods. Secondly, SCr and urine output used in diagnosing AKI serve as imperfect markers of structural kidney injury. Healthy kidneys possess functional reserve capacity which means that SCr is not elevated until there is a 50% decrease in GFR[45], and even then there is a delay of 24-36 hours from kidney injury to steady state of the subsequent SCr increase[46]. Urine output, while a time-sensitive marker of GFR, is influenced by diuretic use and the humoral responses of critical illness and surgery[7, 16]. This means kidney injury is already established by the time AKI is diagnosed. Thirdly, reliable assessment of renal recovery after critical illness is challenging due to factors such as muscle wasting, changes in volume distribution, and compensatory hyperfiltration, which may lower SCr and thus overestimate renal recovery[6]. Altogether, new easily applicable methods for early identification and prognostication of renal dysfunction are warranted. Novel biomarkers of renal cell stress or injury have been extensively studied, but very few have translated into clinical practice. Instead, renal POCUS may offer promise in this regard.

#### 2.2 Ultrasound

#### Ultrasound principles

Ultrasound constitutes of high-frequency sound waves above the human hearing range and can be used to produce images based on the pulse-echo principle[47]. When an electrical signal is applied to piezoelectric crystals within the ultrasound transducer, the crystals vibrate, generating pulses of mechanical waves that propagate through the tissue as ultrasound. Tissues of varying densities exhibit different acoustic impedances, causing ultrasound waves to travel at different speeds. At tissue interfaces, where acoustic impedance changes occur, some ultrasound waves will be reflected back to the transducer, creating echoes. These echoes are transformed by the piezoelectric crystals to electrical signals, and displayed as an image on the monitor.

#### Doppler ultrasound

The Doppler effect states that there is a change in the frequency of a sound wave when there is motion relative to the observer[47]. Doppler ultrasound can therefore be used to detect blood flow by analyzing the frequency shifts of the received echoes caused by the movement of red blood cells. Color Doppler displays motion and direction of blood flow. Spectral Doppler displays blood flow velocities over time. It includes pulsed-wave Doppler (PW Doppler), which measures blood flow velocities at specific points, and continuous wave Doppler, which measures the highest blood flow velocity along the insonation line. Importantly, blood flow velocities measured by Doppler ultrasound are dependent on the insonation angle. Therefore, absolute velocities decrease with increasing insonation angle, and obtaining reliable velocities requires minimizing the angle between the Doppler shift signal and the direction of blood flow.

#### **Renal POCUS**

*Table 2* summarizes commonly used modalities within renal POCUS[5]. Brightnessmodulated mode (B mode) and Color Doppler are considered basic POCUS skills, while PW Doppler is suggested to require a higher skill level and additional training[48].

Table 2. Renal POCUS.					
Modality	Description	Clinical question			
B mode	Grayscale image	Kidney size Parenchymal thickness Echogenicity Urinary tract obstruction Masses/cysts/stones			
Color Doppler	Motion and direction of blood flow Red = towards the transducer Blue = away from the transducer	Renal perfusion			
PW Doppler	Blood flow velocity over time at specific measurement points	Renal arterial flow velocities Renal venous flow profile			

### 2.3 Renal resistive index

RRI represents a quantitative measurement of intraparenchymal renal perfusion. For over three decades, it has been studied in outpatient settings for diagnosing renal disease and prognosticating graft survival in kidney transplant patients[49]. In recent years, its application has gained increased interest in the perioperative and critical care settings.

#### Technique

The POCUS-technique for obtaining RRI is standardized[50]. The patient is typically examined in a supine or lateral decubitus position, and the kidneys are insonated from a posterolateral approach. A curvilinear low-frequency (2-5 MHz) transducer is used to obtain a B-mode longitudinal axis of the examined kidney. Then Color Doppler is applied to identify interlobar (adjacent to medullary pyramids) or arcuate (at the corticomedullary junction) intrarenal arteries. PW Doppler is applied, and a small Doppler gate (2-5 mm) with low pulse repetition frequency and high gain is used to obtain optimal readings of 3-5 consecutive similar-appearing waveforms of intrarenal blood flow. Peak systolic velocity and end-diastolic velocity is measured, and RRI is simply calculated by using the formula:

Peak systolic velocity – End-diastolic velocity

RRI = -

To account for regional imbalances in perfusion, RRI should be obtained from the upper, mid, and lower kidney poles. Ultimately, a single mean RRI for both kidneys is calculated.

#### Normal values

RRI reflects the percentage of velocity reduction of end-diastolic flow in relation to peak systolic flow and can in theory obtain values between O and 1. An RRI of O would indicate continuous intrarenal blood flow without deceleration throughout the cardiac cycle, while an RRI of 1 would equal totally diminished intrarenal diastolic blood flow.

Normal RRI values fall around 0.60, with 0.70 considered the upper normal threshold in adults[51, 52]. Normal kidneys display a low downstream RVR with significant diastolic flow, resulting in the lowest RRI value observed in the outer regions of the renal parenchyma[53]. Normal side-to-side differences between kidneys is less than 5%[52]. Since the right kidney generally is more accessible due to the beneficial acoustic ultrasound window provided by the adjacent liver, RRI measurements from the right kidney are suggested to be used when repeated assessments are needed[50]. *Figure 1* displays a normal RRI reading.



Figure 1. Normal RRI reading of the author's right kidney.

#### Determinants

Despite its name, RRI is not only a reflection of downstream RVR. Animal studies conducted already 25 years ago demonstrated RRI to be relatively insensitive to increases in RVR[54]. Instead, through in-depth analysis and rearrangement of the RRI formula, a linear association between RRI and systemic pulse pressure has been proposed[55]. Thus, fixed elevated central pulse pressure resulting from decreased systemic vascular compliance is believed to be the major determinant of the RRI elevation observed in patients with older age or atherosclerotic disease[56, 57]. Notably, in patients with transplanted kidneys, RRI is not associated with graft prognosis but rather with the central pulse pressure of the recipient[58]. Heart rate impacts RRI through dynamic pulse pressure alterations. In bradycardia, diastole becomes longer leading to increased pulse pressure and lower end-diastolic intrarenal blood flow velocities, and thereby increased RRI. RRI-formulas corrected for heart rate variabilities exist[59], but are seldom deemed necessary in clinical practice[50]. Although still reflective of renal perfusion, RRI has failed to show a strong association with global RBF in animal and clinical studies[60, 61]. However, RRI seems to increase with increased stroke volume[62].

The major intrarenal factor affecting RRI is the renal capillary wedge pressure (RCWP), which represents a combination of renal interstitial and venous pressures[55, 63]. In AKI, a renal inflammatory state causing downstream vasoconstriction, as well as local edema with increased intracapsular pressure, is suggested to elevate RRI[64]. Additionally, RRI elevation from increased RCWP secondary to venous congestion, has been described in patients with heart failure[65]. Downstream RVR and characteristics of the intrarenal vessels still affect the RRI value, and renal arteriosclerosis seems to be the only histological abnormality independently associated with elevated RRI[66]. In established CKD, RRI elevation may partially depend on elevated RVR from intrarenal vascular rarefaction[67].

In summary, RRI is determined by extrarenal or upstream factors, primarily affected by systemic pulse pressure, as well as intrarenal or downstream factors affecting RVR (*Table 3*). Some of these factors are static while others are dynamic, making interpretation of the final RRI value complex and highly dependent on the clinical situation.

Table 3. Major determinants of RRI.			
Determinants	Effect on RRI		
Pulse Pressure (upstream factors)	Systemic vascular compliance (arterial stiffness)	Reduced in older age or by systemic atherosclerosis → RRI↑	
	Heart rate	Bradycardia → RRI↑ Tachycardia → RRI↓	
	Stroke volume	RRI↑	
	Aortic valve disease	Aortic insufficiency $\rightarrow RRI^{\uparrow}$ Aortic stenosis $\rightarrow RRI^{\downarrow}$	
	Renal artery stenosis	$RRI\uparrow$ , or if severe $\rightarrow RRI\downarrow$	
Resistance (downstream factors)	Vasoconstriction	Increased by vasopressors, local inflammation/AKI, or hypoxia/hypercapnia → RRI↑	
	Occlusion	Emboli or thrombotic microangiopathy → RRI↑	
	Renal capillary wedge pressure	Increased by local inflammation/edema/AKI, intraabdominal hypertension, or venous congestion → RRI↑	
	Renal vascular compliance	Decreased in renal arteriolosclerosis → RRI↑	

#### **RRI and AKI**

In the perioperative and critical care settings, RRI has been primarily studied for early detection and short-term prognostication of AKI (*Table 4-5*).

Consistently, patients admitted to the ICU who develop severe AKI (stage 2 to 3) within the first days have higher RRI compared to those who develop no or only mild AKI (stage 1)[68–70]. Several single-center studies have suggested that patients progressing to persistent AKI typically present with RRI >0.70–0.80 at admission[71, 72], but recent studies have come to question the clinical utility of these findings. In a French multicenter study on 351 unselected ICU patients, RRI measurements at admission had an area under the receiver operator characteristics curve (AUC) of only 58% for prediction of AKI short-term reversibility[73]. A sub-analysis on 118 patients that did not meet KDIGO-criteria for AKI at the time of measurement showed an equally poor performance of RRI to predict de novo-AKI[74]. Similar conclusions were drawn from a Dutch single-center study on 371 unselected ICU patients[75]. Overall, the ICU community has shifted from enthusiasm to a more cautious stance regarding the role of RRI alone for early prediction of AKI reversibility[76].

In comparison, the perioperative setting may offer a more beneficial environment for researching markers of AKI prediction, as baseline renal function often is known, and the surgical trauma provides a well-defined timepoint for the insult driving the AKI process. RRI elevation >0.70 in the immediate postoperative period has been associated with subsequent AKI development after cardiac[77-79] and non-cardiac surgery[80-82]. Notably, dynamic RRI elevations may serve as the earliest possible warning signal for an ongoing kidney injury process, facilitating the identification of patients requiring urgent clinical review and meticulous supportive care. This monitoring can even be conducted intraoperatively by using transesophageal POCUS[83, 84]. Additionally, patients with elevated preoperative RRI have an increased risk of early postoperative AKI[85]. Recent meta-analyses have concluded that perioperative RRI should be considered a useful marker for early AKI prediction and short-term prognostication in this setting, although heterogeneity among individual studies may weaken generalizability[86, 87].

Table 4. Selected studies of RRI and AKI in the ICU setting.					
Reference	n	Outcome	RRI cut-off	Comment	
			(AUC, sens, spec)		
Lerolle 2006[68]	35	AKI on day 5	0.74 (0.85, 78, 77)	Septic shock patients	
Darmon 2011[71]	51	AKI-duration >3 days	0.79 (0.91, 92, 85)		
Schnell 2012[88]	58	AKI on day 3	0.71 (0.91, NR, NR)	2 centers	
				Better performance than cystatin C	
Song 2018[70]	124	AKI within 7 days	0.69 (0.81, 52, 87)	Surgical ICU	
				Better performance in combination with central venous pressure	
Haitsma Mulier 2018[69]	99	AKI stage 2-3 within 7 days	0.74 (0.72, 53, 87)		
Darmon 2018[73]	351	AKI-duration >3 days	0.71 (0.58, 50, 68)	8 centers	
				Similar performance for predicting de novo-AKI in sub-analysis on 118 patients[74]	
Garnier 2020[72]	100	AKI-duration >3 days	0.69 (0.93, 78, 90)	Confirmed AKI cases.	
				Better performance than TIMP-2 x IGFBP7	
Wiersema 2020[75]	371	AKI on day 3	0.74 (0.59, 32, 72)	Similar performance in combination with renal venous Doppler	
Abbreviations: n, number of patients; TIMP-2 x IGFBP7, a novel cell cycle arrest kidney biomarker.					

Table 5. Selected studies of RRI and AKI in the perioperative setting.					
Reference	n	Outcome	RRI cut-off	Comment	
			(AUC, sens, spec)		
Cardiac surgery					
Bossard 2011[77]	65	AKI within 4 days	0.74 (0.91, 85, 94)		
Guinot 2013[78]	82	AKI-duration >3 days	0.73 (0.93, 93, 88)		
Hertzberg 2017[85]	96	AKI within 48 hours	0.70 (NR, 78, 46)	Measured preoperatively	
Hermanssen 2021[79]	100	AKI within 4 days	0.73 (0.73, 88, 58)	Better specificity in combination with renal venous Doppler	
Kajal 2O22[84]	115	AKI within 7 days	0.68 (0.71, 70, 67)	Measured intraoperatively by TEE	
Non-cardiac surgery					
Marty 2015[80]	50	AKI within 48 hours	0.71 (0.86, 94, 71)	Hip/knee arthroplasty	
Marty 2016[81]	48	AKI within 48 hours	0.71 (0.89, 76, 89)	Hip fracture repair	
Valeri 2022[82]	53	AKI within 1 week	7% increase from preop to postop (0.75, 33, 50)	Open aortic surgery	
Abbreviations: n, number of patients; TEE, transesophageal echocardiography.					

#### **RRI and resuscitation**

By reflecting renal perfusion, and thereby acting as a surrogate marker of systemic perfusion, RRI has the potential of being a quantitative monitoring tool in resuscitative scenarios. In shock states, RRI elevation is suggested to stem from a combination of increased pulse pressure, impaired cardiac function, and increased RCWP[89]. RRI >0.70 has demonstrated good predictive performance as an early warning signal for detecting hemodynamic deterioration in trauma patients[90]. Moreover, the RRI value seems to be a dynamic measure in these situations, rapidly responding to therapeutic interventions[91]. In postoperative fluid responsive patients, RRI decreases with passive leg raising or fluid administration [92, 93]. However, results from the ICU setting regarding RRI changes after fluid administration have been less consistent[94-96]. Several patients included in these studies already had established AKI, suggesting a less predictable response of RRI to interventions when renal dysfunction is already present. Indeed, RRI has shown to correlate with mean arterial pressure in ICU patients without AKI but not in those with AKI[97]. Nevertheless, a decrease in RRI concurrent with an increase in urine output has been described when mean arterial pressure is titrated upwards using vasopressors[98], still indicating the potential utility of RRI as a therapeutic target in acute settings.

#### RRI and long-term renal outcomes

The role of RRI in predicting the progression of AKI to AKD and CKD is not established. Studies on RRI performed in the perioperative and critical care settings have not provided long-term follow-up data. However, RRI elevation has been associated with renal function decline in patients with traditional risk factors for CKD development such as hypertension[99] and diabetes mellitus[100]. It is plausible that RRI measured during a clinically stable phase reflects these fixed patient-specific risk factors for renal function decline, but this has not been thoroughly investigated across various clinical settings.

In patients with established CKD, RRI is extensively studied and is the ultrasonographic measurement that best correlates with long-term renal prognosis[67]. RRI >0.70 have shown to be a risk factor for accelerated renal function deterioration[101-103] or death[104] independent of baseline GFR or albuminuria. Further, RRI >0.80 has shown associations with progression to both kidney failure and early death in these patients[105]. However, predictive performance of RRI >0.80 as a solitary marker for long-term renal function decline and mortality has recently been questioned, with an AUC of 66% and 67%, respectively, for predicting these outcomes[106].

### 2.4 Critical COVID-19 and the kidney

The COVID-19 pandemic caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) struck Sweden in April 2020. Critically ill patients with a new form of virus-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome quickly flooded Swedish ICUs. During the first wave, over 40% of patients with COVID-19 admitted to the ICUs at the Karolinska University Hospital also developed AKI, with half of them requiring RRT, placing significant strain on resources[107-109]. The patients presented with severe systemic inflammation and a hypercoagulable state with an increased risk of both arterial and venous thromboses[110]. Early post-mortem findings identified a high grade of endothelial dysfunction and renal microthrombi in those with AKI[111]. Being a new and unfamiliar disease entity, RBF impairment therefore emerged as a potential contributor to renal dysfunction, and international expert groups advocated for research into POCUS assessment of AKI in these patients[112].

#### 2.5 Thesis rationale

Renal hemodynamics play a central role in the progression and recovery of renal dysfunction in perioperative and critical care, and RRI serves as a rapid and non-invasive bedside tool for quantifying renal perfusion. However, several uncertainties persisted leading up to the studies included in this thesis.

Firstly, the feasibility of RRI as a POCUS method had not been established since measurements in previous studies were performed by experienced sonographers[68, 69, 77, 78, 80, 81, 88, 113]. We hypothesized that RRI could be effectively learned and applied also by inexperienced sonographers outside of expert centers.

Secondly, we hypothesized that RRI would be elevated in critical COVID-19 patients with AKI, and that the method could serve as a bedside tool for identifying these patients.

Thirdly, we investigated the occurrence of long-term renal dysfunction after surgery. In this context, we hypothesized that AKD was an important risk factor, and that RRI could serve as a quantifiable risk measure for identifying high-risk patients at an early stage.

# 3 Research aims

The general aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of RRI in assessing renal outcomes in perioperative and critical care. Specific aims were:

- To study the feasibility of RRI as a POCUS method (study I).
- To study the association of RRI with AKI in critical COVID-19 (study II).
- To study the incidence and risk factors for postoperative advanced CKD and long-term MAKE on a national level in Sweden, and to study the contribution of AKD for these outcomes (study III).
- To study the association of preoperative RRI with postoperative persistent renal dysfunction, and long-term MAKE and MACE (study IV).

# 4 Materials and methods

Table 6. Summary of methods.					
Study	1	Ш	ш	IV	
Study design	Validation study	Observational cohort study	Observational register-based cohort study	Observational cohort study	
Study population	Volunteers	ICU patients with COVID-19	Patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery	Patients undergoing cardiac surgery	
Study period	2019	2020	2007-2013 Follow-up 1 year	2014-2015 Follow-up 5 years	
Sample size	23	51	237 124	96	
RRI measurements	By 3 operators in every volunteer	During ICU period	None	Before surgery	
Outcomes	Interobserver reliability Accuracy Precision	АКІ	Advanced CKD Advanced AKD MAKE	Persistent renal dysfunction MAKE MACE	
Statistical analysis	Intraclass correlation coefficients Paired t test	Wilcoxon rank- sum test Logistic regression	Fine and Gray competing risks regression Cox proportional hazards regression	Wilcoxon rank- sum test Kaplan-Meier method Cox proportional hazards regression	

#### 4.1 RRI measurements

RRI measurements were performed in studies I and II, and had previously been performed on the cohort in study IV. The technique for obtaining RRI adhered to the protocol described earlier[50]. In study I, the same ultrasound device (Vivid S70N, GE Healthcare, Illinois, US) was used in the same volunteers by every operator. In study II, the same ultrasound device was used in all patients on the same site (Vivid S70N, GE Healthcare, Illinois, US on one site, Logiq E10, GE Healthcare, Illinois, US on one site). In study IV, the same ultrasound device (ACUSON Sequoia 512, Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany) was used in all patients. The operators that performed RRI measurements in patients were not directly involved in patient care.

### 4.2 Data sources

#### Medical records

Take Care (CompuGroup Medical, Koblenz, Germany) is the primary electronic health records system utilized by most hospitals and outpatient clinics in the Stockholm Region. It contains medical records, including laboratory data and imaging data obtained during clinical practice. Clinisoft (Centricity Critical Care, GE Healthcare, Illinois, US) is an electronic patient database management system utilized by all adult ICUs at the Karolinska University Hospital. It acquires and stores physiological data alongside ICUspecific monitoring and therapeutic settings. Data extracted from these medical records were used in studies II and IV.

#### The Orbit Register

Orbit is a surgical planning software and contains data on surgical procedures and perioperative characteristics. Orbit data were used in study III and, at the time of data extraction, covered approximately one-third of units performing surgery in Sweden.

#### National Board of Health and Welfare Registries

The National Board of Health and Welfare, a Swedish government agency, oversees various health data registries. Data from the following registries were used in study III:

*The National Patient Register*[114], which contains hospital discharge dates and International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) codes for all diagnoses in hospital and specialized outpatient care. Registrations are 85-95% correct for most diagnoses[115].

*The Swedish Prescribed Drug Register*[116], which contains dates and Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical classification (ATC) codes for all dispensed drug prescriptions from Swedish pharmacies[117].

*The Swedish Cause of Death Register*[118], which contains death dates for >99% of Swedish citizens[119].

#### **National Quality Registries**

Several national quality registries exist in Sweden, containing data on specific diagnoses and disease states.

*The Swedish Renal Register*[120] contains data on active uremia care, including patients on hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. It covers >97% of patients on chronic dialysis in Sweden[121]. Data from this register were used in study III.

### 4.3 Statistical analysis

In all studies, data were presented as frequency (n) and percentage (%) for categorical variables, and as median with interquartile range (IQR) or mean with standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables. Between-group comparisons were conducted using the Chi<sup>2</sup>, Fischer's exact, or Wilcoxon rank-sum tests, as appropriate. Specific statistical analyses for each study are described separately. For all analyses, 2-sided p-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Data were analyzed using Stata version 15.1 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, US).

### 4.4 Study I

#### Design

This validation study was conducted at the Karolinska University Hospital including volunteers who were examined by three operators with varying levels of prior ultrasound experience. The intermediate non-expert, a resident in anesthesia and intensive care, regularly used POCUS in clinical practice but had no experience in renal Doppler. The novice non-expert was a medical student with no clinical experience in POCUS. The expert, a specialist in clinical physiology, possessed over 20 years of experience in RRI measurements.

Both non-experts participated in a structured half-day course that included theoretical background and supervised practical training to learn the RRI technique. RRI measurements were then performed consecutively by all operators in each volunteer, the order of operators being random for every volunteer, with the measurements and results blinded to the other operators.

#### Definitions

Interobserver reliability for mean RRI between non-experts and the expert was assessed using the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), categorized as poor if <0.50, moderate if  $\ge 0.50$ , good if  $\ge 0.75$ , or excellent if  $\ge 0.90[122]$ . Accuracy was defined as absence of systematic measurement error (bias). Precision was defined as absence of random measurement error. Clinically acceptable precision for the non-experts was a priori defined as having 95% limits of agreement (LoA) within  $\pm 0.06$  from the expert, corresponding to a measurement error within  $\pm 10\%$  for a normal RRI of 0.60.

#### Statistical analysis

ICC and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were calculated based on individual measurements, consistency of agreement, using a 2-way mixed effects model[123]. Bias represented the mean difference between paired measurements, and was determined using paired t tests. The 95% LoA were calculated as ±1.96 SDs from the mean difference of paired measurements. Bland-Altman plots were constructed to visualize bias and random measurement errors between operators. To assess progression in the technique of obtaining RRI, analyses were repeated after excluding the first 5 volunteers.

#### 4.5 Study II

#### Design and study population

This observational cohort study was conducted in six COVID-ICUs at two sites of the Karolinska University Hospital during the first COVID-19 wave in Sweden in 2020. Inclusion criteria were positive SARS-CoV-2, ICU admission, and age ≥18 years. Exclusion criteria were pre-existing kidney failure, palliation, ongoing cardiac arrythmia, or treatment with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. On specific dates for each ICU, RRI measurements were performed by one of two trained operators on eligible patients.

#### Definitions

The primary outcome was AKI at the time of RRI measurement, defined according to the SCr criteria of the KDIGO guidelines[10]. AKI severity was categorized based on SCr increase compared to baseline: stage 1 if  $\geq$ 1.5–fold increase or absolute increase  $\geq$ 26 µmol/l, stage 2 if  $\geq$ 2.0–fold increase, stage 3 if  $\geq$ 3.0–fold increase or absolute increase to >354 µmol/l or initiation of RRT. The highest SCr from ICU admission to the day of RRI measurement was compared to baseline SCr, which was defined as the last known value measured during a disease–free phase before admission or, if unavailable, the SCr at hospital admission. Patients whose SCr had peaked >7 days before RRI measurement and returned to baseline, no longer fulfilling the KDIGO SCr criteria, were classified as having recovered AKI. Oliguria was defined as <0.5 ml/kg/ideal body weight/hour for 24 hours.

#### Statistical analysis

Median RRI between groups were compared using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test. The association of RRI with AKI was assessed using logistic regression, calculating odds ratios (ORs) and 95% CIs. To adjust for confounding factors, an exploratory multivariable model was constructed using manual forward variable selection based on significance levels (p < 0.2) in univariate analyses.

### 4.6 Study III

#### Design and study population

This observational cohort study utilized prospectively registered data from 23 Swedish hospitals. Eligible patients were adults undergoing surgery between 2007 and 2013, with follow-up until 2014. Patients with missing data or undergoing cardiac or obstetric surgery had been a priori excluded from the dataset[124]. Exclusion criteria were preoperative renal dysfunction or undergoing kidney surgery.

The study population was identified from Orbit and linked, using the unique Swedish personal identity number, to the National Patient Register, the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register, the Swedish Cause of Death Register, and the Swedish Renal Register. The final dataset thus included information on the surgical procedure, as well as diagnoses, hospital stays, dispensed drug prescriptions, mortality, and chronic dialysis from 5 years before surgery until end of follow-up.

#### Definitions

Exclusion criteria were defined as described in *Table 7*. The approach of using renalspecific diagnoses, drugs, and procedure codes to exclude patients with renal dysfunction has been shown to correspond to eGFR ≥60 ml/min/1.73 m2 in >90% of the remaining patients when validated against SCr in a Swedish setting[125]. American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status classification (ASA score) was defined as 1: normal healthy patient, 2: patient with mild systemic disease, 3: patient with severe systemic disease, and ≥4: patient with severe systemic disease that is a constant threat to life[126].

The primary outcome was advanced CKD within 1 year after surgery, corresponding to CKD grade 4–5 from postoperative day 91 to 365 (*Table 7*). The approach of using renalspecific diagnoses or drugs to identify patients with renal dysfunction has been shown to correspond to an eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> in >93% of cases when validated against SCr[125]. By incorporating registrations from the Swedish Renal Register, >97% of patients on chronic dialysis were covered[121]. Secondary outcomes were advanced AKD within 90 days after surgery, and MAKE within 90 days (MAKE90) and 1 year (MAKE365) after surgery (*Table 7*).

Table 7. Definitions of exclusion criteria and outcomes.				
Exclusion criteria				
Preoperative renal dysfunction (eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m²)	ICD-10: N17, N18, N19, Z49 ATC: V03AE, A02AH, B03XA Procedure code starting with PBL, PBM, PBU, JAK10 Registration in the Swedish Renal Register			
ICD-codes registered in any position; for NI7 ar before surgery. ATC-codes registered as dispensed drug at lea Registration in the Swedish Renal Register befo	nd NI9 within 1 year before surgery, for NI8 and Z49 within 5 years ast once within 1 year before surgery. re surgery.			
Kidney surgery	Procedure code starting with KAC, KAD, KAS			
Primary outcome				
Advanced CKD (eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m²)	Within 1 year after surgery (postoperative day 91–365): ICD-I0: NI8, Z49 ATC: V03AE, A02AH, B03XA Registration in the Swedish Renal Register			
ICD-codes registered in any position: for NI8 fr ATC-codes registered as first postoperative dr First postoperative registration in the Swedish For all registrations within 90 days after surger advanced CKD, and the date was set to 3 mont	om postoperative day 90, for Z49 as first postoperative registration. ug dispense. Renal Register. y patients were considered to have advanced AKD transitioning to ths after the registration date.			
Secondary outcomes				
Advanced AKD (eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m²)	Within 90 days after surgery (postoperative day 0–90): ICD-10: N17, N19, Z49 ATC: V03AE, A02AH, B03XA Registration in the Swedish Renal Register			
MAKE90 (eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m², chronic dialysis, all-cause death)	Within 90 days after surgery: ICD-10: N17, N19, Z49 ATC: V03AE, A02AH, B03XA Registration in the Swedish Renal Register Registration in the Swedish Cause of Death Register			
MAKE365 (eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m², chronic dialysis, all-cause death)	Within 1 year after surgery: ICD-I0: N18, Z49 ATC: V03AE, A02AH, B03XA Registration in the Swedish Renal Register Registration in the Swedish Cause of Death Register			
ICD-codes registered in any position. ATC-codes registered as first postoperative drug dispense. First postoperative registration in the Swedish Renal Register. Postoperative registration in the Cause of Death Register. For MAKE365: NI8 registered from postoperative day 90, Z49 registered as first postoperative registration. For all registrations within 90 days after surgery (except for registrations in the Swedish Cause of Death Register) patients were considered to have advanced AKD transitioning to advanced CKD, and the date was set to 3 months after the registration date. Abbreviations: A02AH, sodium bicarbonate; B03XA, erythropoiesis-stimulating agents; JAKIO, laparotomy with placement of peritoneal dialysis catheter; KAC, nephrectomy; KAD, partial nephrectomy; KAS, kidney transplantation; NI7 acut renal failure: NI8 chronic read failure: NI9 uncostified renal failure: PBI (PRMPL)				
arterio-venous fistulas: VO3AE, phosphate or kalium binders; Z49, dialvsis care.				

#### Statistical analysis

Associations of perioperative risk factors with the outcomes were assessed using Fine and Gray competing risks regression for renal outcomes[127], and Cox proportional hazards regression for MAKE. The competing outcome was all-cause mortality. Multivariable models were constructed based on variables with p <0.1 in univariate analyses and biological plausibility. For AKD and MAKE90, analyses were performed on all patients. For CKD and MAKE365, analyses were performed on those alive at postoperative day 90 and included also postoperative variables. Subdistribution hazard ratios (SHRs), hazard ratios (HRs) and their 95% CIs were calculated. For advanced CKD, cumulative incidence curves were constructed based on the multivariable Fine and Gray model and stratified by previous episodes of advanced AKD. For CKD, two sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the robustness of the findings.

#### 4.7 Study IV

#### Design and study population

This observational cohort study was a long-term follow-up of a cohort of cardiac surgery patients[85]. Eligible patients were adults without preoperative kidney failure or kidney transplants, who underwent on-pump cardiac surgery at the Karolinska University Hospital in Solna in 2014 or 2015, and who had undergone RRI measurements the day before surgery. Exclusion criterion was loss to follow-up, which lasted until 5 years after index surgery.

#### Definitions

Preoperative RRI ≥0.70 was defined as elevated in accordance with clinical practice. The primary outcome was persistent renal dysfunction, defined as a ≥25% decline in eGFR from the preoperative value sustained for a minimum of 3 months[25]. Secondary outcomes were MAKE (incorporating the primary outcome, initiation of RRT, or all-cause death[25]) and MACE (incorporating myocardial infarction, unstable angina, decompensated heart failure, stroke, or cardiovascular death[27]). To calculate eGFR, the 2021 Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration formula based on sex, age, and SCr was used[128]. Baseline SCr was obtained at the closest time before surgery (generally the day before surgery). Postoperative AKI was defined according to SCr or urine output criteria of the KDIGO guidelines[10].

#### Statistical analysis

Median RRI between groups was compared using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test. Cumulative incidence curves were constructed using the Kaplan-Meier method, and the log-rank test was used for comparisons of those with and without elevated RRI. The association of elevated RRI with the outcomes was assessed using Cox proportional hazards regression, with calculation of HRs and 95% CIs. Predefined multivariable models were constructed, adjusted for basic patient characteristics (age, sex), physiological parameters at measurement (pulse pressure, heart rate), and clinically important comorbidities (eGFR-level, heart failure). Additionally, exploratory multivariable models were constructed using stepwise forward variable selection based on significance levels (p < 0.2) in univariate analyses and biological plausibility. Two sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the robustness of the findings.

Additionally for this thesis, AUC for preoperative RRI ≥0.70 for predicting the primary outcome was calculated together with its sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), and negative predictive value (NPV) with corresponding 95% CIs. This analysis was performed on patients without preoperative severe aortic insufficiency since this vitium itself may alter the RRI value without necessarily affecting renal prognosis[129].

#### 4.8 Ethical considerations

All studies in this thesis were approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (studies I, II and IV) or by the Regional Ethics Committee, Stockholm, Sweden (study III), and complied with the Declaration of Helsinki.

RRI measurements, conducted in studies I, II and IV, are non-invasive diagnostic ultrasonographic procedures known to be safe for humans[47]. Caution was taken during the measurements to ensure they did not interfere with routine patient care.

Regarding the ethical principles of research – doing good, avoiding harm, justice, and autonomy – the latter warrants further reflection concerning the studies included in this thesis. In studies I and IV, volunteers and patients provided informed consent before enrollment. However, in study II, the Swedish Ethical Authority granted an approach with waived informed consent due to the critical condition of the COVID-19 patients, rendering them incapable of providing consent. Pandemic restrictions during the first wave prevented relatives from being in the hospitals, hindering consent through next of kin. In this context, it can be argued that the imperative need for knowledge about this new and deadly disease, combined with the observational nature of the study and the non-invasive nature of the performed measurements, outweighed the potential violation of autonomy. A written information sheet was provided to patients or next of kin with the opportunity to withdraw participation retrospectively. No included patient withdrew their participation. In study III, which solely relied on registry data, informed consent was waived. All data handled in this study were anonymized, and the key file for identifying individual patients was kept at The National Board of Health and Welfare, which had been responsible for data matching.

Patient data used in all studies were handled according to established confidentiality routines, ensuring the privacy and confidentiality of the individuals involved.

### 5 Results

### 5.1 Study I

#### Volunteers

A total of 23 volunteers were included. Median age was 38 years (IQR, 31-49), 61% were female, and median body mass index (BMI) was 24 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (IQR, 23-26). Median RRI measured by the expert was 0.58 (IQR, 0.52-0.62).

#### Comparison of RRI between operators

Out of a possible 138 kidney pole measurements, the intermediate operator obtained 136 (99%) acceptable readings, the novice 134 (97%), and the expert 138 (100%). At least two acceptable kidney pole readings were obtained per kidney, and each operator obtained an acceptable mean RRI for every volunteer.

ICC for the intermediate and expert was excellent (0.96 [95% CI, 0.90–0.98]), and for the novice and expert in the range of moderate to excellent (0.85 [95% CI, 0.69–0.94]). Both non-experts exhibited good accuracy with negligible bias (95% CI for mean difference, <±0.02) and clinically acceptable precision (95% LoA,  $\leq$ ±0.06) (*Figure 2*).





After excluding the first 5 volunteers, both non-experts were able to obtain all possible kidney pole measurements. ICC remained excellent for the intermediate and expert, and increased to the range of good to excellent (0.90 [95% CI, 0.75-0.96]) for the novice and expert.

#### 5.2 Study II

#### Study population

A total of 51 patients were included. Median age was 63 years (IQR, 57–67), 88% were male, and median BMI was 29 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (IQR, 25–31). Hypertension and diabetes mellitus were present in 57% and 20% respectively. During the ICU period, 96% had received mechanical ventilation and vasopressor therapy respectively.

RRI measurements were performed on median ICU day 18 (IQR, 6-29). AKI was present in 23 patients (45%), of which 17 (74%) had AKI stage 3 and 13 (57%) received RRT. The AKI patients had higher BMI, and more often received mechanical ventilation or vasopressors at the time of measurement compared to those without AKI. Among the 28 patients without AKI, 11 (39%) had a previous AKI episode but had recovered.

#### **RRI and AKI**

Median RRI for all patients was 0.76 (IQR, 0.69–0.82). RRI was higher in patients with AKI compared to those without (0.80 [IQR, 0.71–0.85] vs 0.72 [IQR, 0.67–0.78], p=0.004), largely driven by the many patients with AKI stage 3 (*Figure 3*). RRI did not differ between patients that never had AKI and those with recovered AKI, but was higher in the AKI group compared to both of these groups (*Figure 3*). RRI was higher in oliguric patients compared to non-oliguric patients (0.84 [IQR, 0.83–0.85] vs 0.74 [IQR, 0.69–0.81], p=0.009).



Figure 3. Dot plots of RRI in patients with no AKI and AKI stages 1-3 (left), and of RRI in patients who never developed AKI, who recovered from AKI, or had an ongoing AKI episode at the time of measurement (right). Each dot represents a patient. Horizontal lines represent median, upper, and lower quartiles.

RRI was associated with AKI after adjustment for BMI, CKD, vasopressors, and antiplatelet use (OR, 1.22 [95% CI, 1.07–1.41]).

### 5.3 Study III

#### Study population

The final study population consisted of 237 124 patients of which 230 081 (97%) were alive at postoperative day 90. Median age was 63 years (IQR, 47–74) and 56% were female. The most prevalent surgery types were orthopedic (32%), abdominal (19%), and urological (9%), with 30% classified as emergency procedures and 21% performed due to cancer indications. Among all patients, 25% had an ASA score ≥3. Hypertension and diabetes mellitus were present in 19% and 10% respectively.

#### Long-term outcomes

Overall, 1597 patients (0.67%) developed advanced CKD within 1 year after surgery and 16 789 (7.1%) developed MAKE365. Advanced AKD within 90 days after surgery and MAKE90 were developed in 1 661 (0.70%) and 8 270 (3.5%) respectively. In general, patients developing any of these outcomes were older, more often male, and had a higher preoperative comorbidity burden compared to those not developing any outcome. *Figure 4* illustrates patient status in relation to renal outcomes and death at postoperative day 90 and 365. Among those alive at postoperative day 90 with advanced AKD, 36% were alive and had developed advanced CKD 1 year after surgery and 51% had developed MAKE365. Among those alive 1 year after surgery with advanced CKD, 33% had a previous episode of advanced AKD within 90 postoperative days.

#### Perioperative risk factors for long-term outcomes

Multivariable analyses identified several risk factors for the long-term outcomes related to patient characteristics, the surgical procedure, and the postoperative course (*Table 8-9*). Notable risk factors associated with advanced CKD were higher ASA score, undergoing urological surgery, prolonged surgical duration, repeated surgery, and postoperative use of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) (*Table 9*). Advanced AKD was associated with advanced CKD (SHR, 44.5 [95% CI, 38.7–51.1]) and MAKE365 (HR, 6.60 [95% CI, 6.07–7.17]). Cumulative incidence of advanced CKD was increased in those with advanced AKD, especially in the first 3 months after which diagnosis was considered (*Figure 5*). Results were consistent in sensitivity analyses.



Figure 4. Sankey diagram showing patient status at day 90 and 365 after surgery according to renal outcomes and death. Green flows represent patients that were event-free at postoperative day 90. Yellow flows represent patients with advanced AKD at postoperative day 90, of which orange flows represent patients on chronic dialysis. Recovery corresponds to eGFR  $\ge$ 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>.



Figure 5. Cumulative incidence function curve for advanced CKD in patients alive at postoperative day 90 according to previous episodes of advanced AKD.

Table 8. Multivariable analyses for development of advanced AKD within 90 days after surgery and MAKE90 in all patients.

	Advanced AKD	MAKE90
Events / total population (%)	1,661 / 237,124 (0.70%)	8,270 / 237,124 (3.5%)
	Adjusted SHR (95% CI)	Adjusted HR (95% CI)
Demographics		
Age (years) <65	Reference	Reference
65-69	1.38 (1.17-1.64)*	1.53 (1.40-1.67)*
70-74	1.43 (1.20-1.70)*	1.75 (1.60-1.91)*
75-79	1.65 (1.39-1.97)*	2.23 (2.05-2.43)*
80-84	1.79 (1.50-2.14)*	2.69 (2.48-2.92)*
≥85	1.93 (1.62-2.31)*	4.48 (4.16-4.83)*
Male sex	1.31 (1.17–1.46)*	1.12 (1.07-1.17)*
ASA score 1	Reference	Reference
2	3.87 (2.96-5.06)*	4.17 (3.57-4.86)*
3	8.96 (6.81-11.8)*	12.0 (10.3-14.0)*
≥4	21.5 (15.8-29.4)*	35.1 (29.8-41.2)*
Surgical variables		
University hospital	1.18 (1.06–1.31)*	0.95 (0.91-1.00)
Cancer indication	1.39 (1.23-1.56)*	2.95 (2.79-3.10)*
Emergency procedure	2.08 (1.85–2.34)*	2.96 (2.81–3.11)*
Type, Abdominal	Reference	Reference
Breast	0.13 (0.06-0.28)	0.13 (0.09–0.18)
Endocrine	0.45 (0.27-0.78)	0.39 (0.28-0.54)
Ophthalmic	0.30 (0.14-0.68)	0.35 (0.24-0.53)
Ear Nose and Throat	0.25 (0.13-0.51)	0.29 (0.20-0.42)
Oral and maxillofacial	0.36 (0.21-0.63)	0.44 (0.34-0.57)
Thoracic	1.43 (1.06–1.93)*	1.44 (1.26-1.64)*
Neuro	0.33 (0.25-0.43)	1.02 (0.94–1.11)
Urological	1.77 (1.51–2.08)*	0.72 (0.65-0.78)
Gynecological	0.48 (0.34-0.68)	0.42 (0.36-0.50)
Orthopedic	0.65 (0.57-0.75)	0.87 (0.82-0.93)
Vascular	0.85 (0.68-1.06)	0.76 (0.68-0.85)
Dermatological	1.12 (0.85–1.47)	0.68 (0.59-0.78)
Duration ≥4 hours	3.81 (3.35-4.33)*	1.65 (1.53-1.78)*

Both models adjusted for preoperative comorbidities (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, atrial fibrillation, peripheral arterial disease, cerebrovascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, liver disease, anemia) in addition to presented variables.

\*Elevated point estimate with p <0.05.

Table 9. Multivariable analyses for development of advanced CKD within 1 year after surgery and MAKE365 in those alive at postoperative day 90.

	Advanced CKD	MAKE365
Events / patients alive at postoperative day 90 (%)	1,562 / 230,081 (0.68%)	9,746 / 230,081 (4.2%)
	Adjusted SHR (95% Cl)	Adjusted HR (95% Cl)
Demographics		
Age (years) <65	Reference	Reference
65-69	0.96 (0.81-1.15)	1.34 (1.24-1.44)*
70-74	1.15 (0.97-1.37)	1.48 (1.37–1.59)*
75-79	1.19 (1.00–1.43)	1.79 (1.66–1.92)*
80-84	1.19 (0.97-1.46)	2.19 (2.04-2.36)*
≥85	1.30 (1.06–1.59)*	3.19 (2.98-3.42)*
Male sex	1.26 (1.11–1.42)*	1.08 (1.03–1.13)*
ASA score 1	Reference	Reference
2	2.75 (2.16-3.50)*	3.13 (2.82-3.47)*
3	4.06 (3.12-5.28)*	5.96 (5.36-6.64)*
≥4	5.47 (3.87-7.73)*	8.85 (7.76-10.1)*
Surgical variables		
University hospital	1.30 (1.15-1.47)*	0.97 (0.92-1.01)
Cancer indication	1.56 (1.36-1./9)*	5.11 (4.86-5.36)*
Emergency procedure	not included	1.68 (1.59-1.76)*
Type, Abdominal	Reference	Reference
Breast	0.35 (0.20-0.61)	0.38 (0.32-0.44)
Onbthalmia	1.06 (0.73-1.62)	0.75 (0.61-0.94)
Opritnalmic	1.08 (0.62-1.88)	1.24 (0.99-1.96)
Oral and mavillafacial	(0.77 - 1.77)	0.78 (0.04-0.90)
Thoracia	100 (0.64-157)	101(087-117)
Neuro	0.75 (0.58-0.97)	133 (123_1//)*
Irological	283 (239-335)*	106 (0.98-114)
Gypecological	0.99 (0.73-135)	0.69 (0.61-0.77)
Orthopedic	0.85 (0.71-1.01)	100 (0.94-106)
Vascular	1.13 (0.87-1.46)	1.08 (0.98-1.19)
Dermatological	0.97 (0.67-1.38)	0.89 (0.79-1.00)
Duration >4 hours	1.76 (1.51-2.04)*	0.94 (0.88-1.01)
Postoperative variables		
Advanced AKD	44.5 (38.7-51.1)*	6.60 (6.07-7.17)*
Hospital length of stay >7 days	1.50 (1.30-1.72)*	1.72 (1.64-1.81)*
Repeated surgery within 90 days	2.17 (1.75-2.70)*	1.72 (1.58-1.88)*
Postoperative drugs		
NSAID	0.94 (0.79-1.12)	0.95 (0.89-1.01)
ACEi or ARB	1.28 (1.12-1.45)*	0.82 (0.78-0.86)
Statin	0.92 (0.80-1.06)	0.69 (0.65-0.73)

Abbreviations: NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug.

Both models adjusted for preoperative comorbidities (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, atrial fibrillation, peripheral arterial disease, cerebrovascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, liver disease, anemia) in addition to presented variables. \*Elevated point estimate with p <0.05.

#### 5.4 Study IV

#### **Study population**

The final study population consisted of 96 patients. Median age was 69 years (IQR, 61-73), 73% were male, and median BMI was 26 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (IQR, 24–29). Median baseline eGFR was 86 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> (IQR, 75–96), 59% had hypertension and 21% had diabetes mellitus. Among the surgeries performed, 38% were isolated coronary-artery bypass procedures, 39% were isolated valve procedures, and the remaining 23% were combined or aortic procedures.

#### **RRI and long-term outcomes**

In total, 58 patients (60%) had elevated preoperative RRI ≥0.70. These patients were older; more often had preoperative CKD, heart failure, or anemia; and had higher pulse pressure at the time of measurement. During follow-up, 25 patients (26%) developed persistent renal dysfunction, 34 (35%) developed MAKE, and 28 (29%) developed MACE. RRI was higher in patients developing any long-term outcome (*Figure 6*). Among those with elevated RRI and postoperative AKI (n=22, 23%), 45% developed persistent renal dysfunction, 68% developed MAKE, and 59% developed MACE.



Figure 6. Box plots of preoperative RRI in patients with or without development of long-term outcomes within 5 years after surgery. The central line inside the box represents the median, the ends of the box represent upper and lower quartiles, whiskers represent the upper and lower adjacent values, and dots represent outliers.

Patients with elevated RRI had higher cumulative incidences of all long-term outcomes (*Figure 7*). Elevated RRI was associated with all long-term outcomes across all multivariable models, except for the stepwise forward selection model for MACE (*Table 10*). Results were consistent in sensitivity analyses.

In patients without severe aortic insufficiency at measurement (n=78, 81%), RRI  $\geq$ 0.70 predicted persistent renal dysfunction during follow-up with an AUC of 0.74 (95% Cl, 0.64-0.83), and sensitivity 0.86 (95% Cl, 0.65-0.97), specificity 0.61 (95% Cl, 0.47-0.74), PPV 0.46 (95% Cl, 0.31-0.63), and NPV 0.92 (95% Cl, 0.78-0.98).



Figure 7. Cumulative incidence curves for long-term outcomes in patients with normal or elevated preoperative RRI. Table 10. Hazard ratios for long-term outcomes within 5 years in relation to elevated preoperative RRI.

	rri <0.70	RRI ≥0.70
Persistent renal dysfunction		
Events/patients, n/n (%)	3 / 38 (8%)	22 / 58 (38%)
	Referent	HR (95% CI)
Crude	1.00	6.23 (1.86-20.9)
Adjusted for age, sex	1.00	5.02 (1.48-17.1)
Adjusted for pulse pressure, heart rate	1.00	5.72 (1.63-20.0)
Adjusted for eGFR, heart failure	1.00	5.82 (1.71-19.9)
Stepwise forward selection model <sup>a</sup>	1.00	4.73 (1.37-16.3)
MAKE		
Events/patients, n/n (%)	5 / 38 (13%)	29 / 58 (50%)
	Referent	HR (95% CI)
Crude	1.00	4.91 (1.90-12.7)
Adjusted for age, sex	1.00	3.78 (1.44-9.94)
Adjusted for pulse pressure, heart rate	1.00	5.46 (2.02-14.8)
Adjusted for eGFR, heart failure	1.00	4.21 (1.59-11.1)
Stepwise forward selection model <sup>b</sup>	1.00	2.83 (1.03-7.73)
MACE		
Events/patients, n/n (%)	5 / 38 (13%) Referent	23 / 58 (40%) HR (95% CI)
Crude	100	3 50 (133-9 21)
Adjusted for age, sex	1.00	2.96 (1.09-8.05)
Adjusted for pulse pressure, heart rate	1.00	3.93 (1.41-11.0)
Adjusted for eGFR, heart failure	1.00	2.81 (1.03-7.65)
Stepwise forward selection model <sup>c</sup>	1.00	2.37 (0.80-7.03)

\*Final adjustment for age, peripheral vascular disease

<sup>b</sup>Final adjustment for age, anemia, heart failure

°Final adjustment for age, anemia, heart failure, stroke

### 6 Discussion

#### 6.1 Main findings

This thesis explored new perspectives on RRI in perioperative and critical care. Our findings suggest that RRI measurements performed by intermediate and novice sonographers were reliable, accurate, and precise when compared to an expert. Non-experts were able to learn the method after only a half-day training course, and there was a steep learning curve for the technique.

RRI was generally elevated in critically ill COVID-19 patients and was associated with AKI. Patients with an ongoing AKI episode had higher RRI compared to those without AKI or with recovered AKI, indicating dynamic RRI changes in response to renal recovery. All patients with oliguria had RRI 20.80.

In patients without preoperative renal dysfunction undergoing surgery, <1% developed advanced CKD while ~7% developed MAKE within the first postoperative year. Advanced AKD was a major risk factor for both outcomes, although most patients developing advanced CKD had not experienced advanced AKD in the near postoperative period. Preoperative RRI ≥0.70 was associated with persistent renal dysfunction, MAKE and MACE within 5 years after cardiac surgery. Up to two-thirds of the patients with elevated RRI and postoperative AKI developed adverse long-term outcomes during follow-up.

#### 6.2 Methodological considerations

All studies in this thesis were observational, investigating associations, and some methodological considerations should be addressed.

#### Internal validity

Internal validity refers to whether the study findings are accurate and reliable within the studied population[130]. A high level of internal validity indicates absence of systematic errors, including bias and confounding.

#### Bias

In study I, various measures were undertaken to mitigate bias. Importantly, the three operators performing the RRI measurements were blinded to the examinations and the results of one another. Each operator performed both measurements and calculations of RRI at the bedside, replicating how the method is used within POCUS settings. Examinations were performed consecutively, with minimal time span and random order between operators for every volunteer, to ensure that conditions of paired measurements remained similar. Overall, we believe our meticulous approach rendered reliable results within the study setting.

Study II was susceptible to bias due to several factors. Despite efforts to screen the participating ICUs in a standardized manner, the final study population was essentially a convenience sample of critically ill COVID-19 patients, which may have introduced selection bias. Although the operators performing RRI measurements were not directly engaged in patient care, 25% of the patients had ongoing RRT which prevented blinding to renal function at measurement in these cases. Additionally, there was a risk of misclassification of AKI events and AKI recovery. AKI was defined based on a relative increase in SCr from baseline, and hospital admission SCr was used when representative baseline values were missing (n=7, 14%). This could have led to misclassification of patients with an ongoing AKI process already present at hospital admission as not having AKI, leading to an underestimation of the AKI incidence. Muscle wasting in the most severely ill patients, leading to decreased SCr from lower muscle mass, may have led to misclassification of these patients as having recovered their renal function when in fact renal dysfunction was still present. However, these limitations are well-known pitfalls in AKI research that relies on SCr criteria[11, 131]. The long time from admission to inclusion further meant that the AKI group in fact was a mixture of patients with AKI (duration ≤7 days) and AKD (duration >7 days).

In study III, sensitivity analyses were conducted when the original dataset was cleaned to mitigate the potential impact of selection bias arising from the exclusion of cases with missing data[124]. Consequently, we were able to employ a complete-case approach to missing data. The registry-based approach used for defining renal outcomes in the absence of SCr inevitably introduced the risk of misclassification. However, a validation study conducted in a similar Swedish setting has demonstrated high accuracy for this approach when assessing advanced renal dysfunction with eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, strengthening the validity of our findings[125]. Underreporting of less severe events may have led to ascertainment bias with risk of exaggerated point estimates for the associations. We used Fine and Gray competing risks regression for assessing renal outcomes to account for deaths that prevented the occurrence of renal events. Mortality comprised >90% of the MAKE outcome, highlighting the importance of this separate approach to identify risk factors specifically for renal outcomes.

In study IV, preoperative SCr measurements were available in all patients and there was no loss to follow-up, which enhances the validity of our findings. Compared to study III, the larger ratio of renal events relative to deaths (mortality constituted 26% of the MAKE outcome) meant that the issue of competing risks due to death was less prominent, and Cox proportional hazards regression was used for both renal outcomes and MAKE.

#### Confounding

Confounders are factors that are associated with the outcome, are unevenly distributed between exposure groups, and are not a direct effect of the exposure, thus leading to confusion of effects[130]. While confounders can be eliminated by randomization in experimental studies, they will inherently be present in observational studies and must be handled by other methods.

In studies II, III, and IV, confounding was addressed using multivariable regression analyses. Generally, variables included in these models were established or probable causal factors between the exposure and outcome, of clinical relevance, or had shown an association with the outcome in univariate analyses. In studies II and IV, small sample sizes with few outcome events necessitated careful consideration of the events per variable ratio to avoid overfitting with exaggerated point estimates. The general rule of thumb is to maintain 10 events per variable, although this rule has been challenged and the appropriate ratio probably should be based on the context of the individual study[132]. The final multivariable model in study II had  $\sim$ 5 events per variable, and the results should be interpreted with caution. In study IV, there were 7 to 10 events per variable for the different models with consistent results across all analyses, enhancing the robustness of the findings. In study III, the large sample size allowed for more comprehensive multivariable analyses. However, residual confounding from unmeasured or inaccurately measured variables will never be fully accounted for, and this problem may be more prominent in a registry-based study. Of note, the association of postoperative ACEi or ARB use with advanced CKD may be due to confounding by indication, and is probably better addressed in a clinical trial. Further, point estimates for SHRs, accounting for competing risks, are complex in their interpretation and not directly comparable to HRs. Instead, they should be interpreted more on their directionality than their absolute values[133].

#### **External validity**

External validity refers to the extent to which study findings can be generalized to populations beyond those directly studied, thus being applicable to a broader clinical context[130]. Internal validity therefore serves as the foundation for external validity.

In study I, two key considerations should be raised. Firstly, the study was conducted on volunteers predominantly with a normal BMI, and our findings may not be generalized to critically ill or severely obese patients. Nonetheless, our findings should be applicable to many clinical settings, including preoperative measurements as were performed in study IV. Secondly, only one non-expert represented each ultrasound experience level, and it is likely that the non-experts in our study were more motivated than other individuals with similar experience levels.

Study II included only critically ill COVID-19 patients during the first wave of the pandemic in Sweden, resulting in an unusually homogeneous ICU cohort, but also restricting generalizability to this specific patient population. Potential selection bias in the inclusion of patients makes it important to consider the patient characteristics of the final study population when comparing results to other studies. Of note, three out of four patients with AKI at RRI measurements had AKI stage 3, and our findings are therefore primarily applicable to severe AKI cases. RRI measurements were performed late in the clinical course, and the implications on COVID-19 patients in earlier stages of their critical illness are uncertain. While the inclusion of six ICUs at two geographically separated sites enhances generalizability, it is important to note that the presentation of COVID-19 very much has evolved since the first wave, potentially impacting the applicability of our findings to current COVID-19 populations.

In study III, the cohort was large and consisted of patients undergoing various types of non-cardiac surgical procedures at hospitals of diverse levels across all regions of Sweden. Consequently, our findings should be applicable to patients without renal dysfunction undergoing surgery in countries with similar health care systems. The age of the dataset, with follow-up until 2014, however raises the possibility of changes in surgical indications and renal treatment options over time, potentially affecting the relevance of the findings to current surgical cohorts. At the same time, this allows for future comparisons over time.

Study IV was a single-center study including patients undergoing on-pump cardiac surgery. Since this surgery type encompasses an increased risk of postoperative renal complications compared to other surgery types[134], our findings may not be broadly applicable to other surgical contexts. We defined the primary outcome as sustained eGFR-decline ≥25%[25], which was possible due to the utilization of laboratory data with extensive coverage. An alternative approach would have been to use the KDIGO criteria for AKD or CKD, but this would have resulted in fewer events, and we were already limited by the fixed available sample.

#### **Random errors**

Random errors will always be present but in contrast to systematic errors, they diminish with increased study power. High precision denotes the absence of random errors and can be assessed using p-values and Cls. Type I errors occur when an association is detected where none exists (falsely rejecting the null hypothesis), while Type II errors occur when a true association is missed (falsely failing to reject the null hypothesis)[135].

Studies II and IV had limited sample sizes, and although main results were statistically significant, the wide CIs suggest that point estimates should be interpreted cautiously. As discussed regarding the multivariable model in study II, there was a risk of a Type I error resulting from a potentially inflated point estimate in the association between RRI and AKI. In study IV, the lack of statistical significance in the exploratory MACE model may instead have been due to the small sample size and a Type II error. The large sample size in study III reduced the likelihood of random errors in this study.

#### 6.3 Clinical perspective

#### **RRI as a POCUS method**

There are several reasons RRI is appealing as a POCUS method. Firstly, Doppler readings can be obtained fast (within minutes), and the RRI value can easily be calculated at the bedside. Secondly, RRI is a quantifiable measure that can be monitored repeatably over time. Lastly, by utilizing a ratio of absolute blood flow velocities obtained from the same spectral reading, the final RRI value is independent of the insonation angle. Consequently, operators may acquire different absolute blood velocities due to varying insonation angles while still calculating interchangeable RRI values.

Described as an easy method[50], study I in this thesis was the first to show the feasibility of RRI among non-experts with varying prior ultrasound experience levels. Previous studies have demonstrated low interobserver variability of RRI measurements performed by expert sonographers[97, 136, 137]. One prior validation study was conducted in an ICU setting, involving three French ICUs, which importantly should be seen as expert centers of the RRI method[138]. Non-experts in this study were residents with prior critical care ultrasound training who underwent a comparable training course to that of our study to learn the RRI technique. ICC, when compared to expert sonographers, was in the range of good to excellent (0.89 [95% Cl, 0.82-0.93]), which is comparable to the results of both non-experts in our study. However, precision was a concern (95% LoA, >±0.1), raising doubts regarding the clinical utility of RRI measurements by non-experts. In a recent post-hoc analysis of a large multicenter study, the same research group however concluded that clinical findings were robust also after adjustment for operator experience levels[139]. While the volunteer setting in study I may not directly be transferrable to the ICU, it resembled the setting for study IV where measurements were performed on patients in a clinically stable preoperative phase. Further, with the increasing integration of POCUS teaching already into undergraduate medical curricula[140, 141], the outlook for learning advanced POCUS techniques, including RRI, appears promising. It is plausible that the basic ultrasound level today is higher compared to the period of data collection for the mentioned ICU feasibility study over a decade ago[138]. While already recommended as part of POCUS training for nephrologists[142], RRI is however yet to be included in the curriculum for basic critical care ultrasonography outlined by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine[143].

#### **RRI and AKI**

Due to its many determinants, it becomes clear that interpretation of RRI is complex and highly dependent on the clinical context. The disappointing results of RRI to predict short-term AKI prognosis in recent ICU studies may be due to the diverse and heterogenous nature of the included ICU cohorts[73, 75]. In study II, we, for the first time, demonstrated an association of RRI with AKI in ICU patients with critical COVID-19. Pronounced RRI elevations had been suggested from pilot studies including 10 and 15 critically ill COVID-patients respectively[144, 145], and our findings were later confirmed by a single-center study including 65 ICU patients with COVID-19[146]. In the latter study, RRI ≥0.70 was associated with AKI, RRT, and mortality but it was not reported how early or late in the ICU course the measurements had been performed. Eventually, a study employing magnetic resonance tomography to assess RBF in patients with critical COVID-19 displayed reduced global, cortical, and medullary perfusion in those with AKI[147]. Altogether, findings from several studies suggest significantly altered renal hemodynamics in critically ill COVID-19 patients with AKI. Contributing mechanisms may be endothelial injury with activation of complement and coagulation pathways, local inflammation, and thrombotic microangiopathy[148]. During the first wave of the pandemic, the combination of mechanical ventilation with high positive end-expiratory pressures and restrictive fluid management aimed primarily at treating the new form of acute respiratory distress syndrome, may have contributed to a state of relative hypovolemia and further progression of AKI[149, 150]. However, with widespread vaccination programs, advancements in the treatment of COVID-19, and changes in viral variants, the incidence of critical COVID-19 and associated AKI has fortunately decreased significantly[149]. It is uncertain whether these shifts in the disease also are reflected in the RRI of affected patients. Nonetheless, our findings from study II shed light on the feasibility of implementing the RRI method under resource-constrained conditions, also outside expert centers, to enable a rapid bedside assessment of renal function.

Given the dynamic conditions of patients in the ICU, repeated RRI measurements are probably essential to monitor patients over time. Dynamic changes in systemic hemodynamics, dosing of vasoactive drugs, and volume status affecting RCWP, may all influence the RRI value in this setting. In AKI, especially RVR affected by intrarenal vasoconstriction and increased RCWP from local inflammation may contribute to a potentially reversible RRI elevation[64]. Dynamic RRI changes have been reported with progression of AKI in septic ICU patients[136], or in the perioperative period[80–82, 151]. Our findings from study II, showing lower RRI in patients with recovered AKI compared to those with an ongoing AKI episode, suggest that RRI may be dynamic and responsive also to renal recovery. Without repeated measurements, it is challenging to distinguish these dynamic changes from RRI values dependent on more fixed patient-specific factors.

Interestingly, all oliguric patients in our study had an RRI  $\ge$ 0.80. Therefore, RRI may serve as a bedside tool to identify critically ill AKI patients not capable of managing their fluid balance and thereby assisting clinicians in decisions regarding initiation or discontinuation of RRT. Our cohort comprised of few oliguric patients (n=5, 10%) and further studies are needed to explore the clinical utility of this finding.

#### Long-term outcomes after surgery

In study III, we investigated the epidemiology of postoperative long-term renal dysfunction, encompassing the characterization of AKD to CKD transition in the perioperative setting. This topic has recently emerged as a prioritized area of research[152]. In the long-term follow-up of the prospective multinational EPIS-AKI study, 10% of patients without preoperative renal dysfunction had an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> when measured at 3 months after surgery[153]. At this time, 1% of patients had advanced AKD or CKD, with eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. This incidence is higher compared to our study, but we included a much broader surgical population and not only those undergoing major surgical procedures. We found higher ASA score to be a strong risk factor for both isolated renal outcomes and MAKE, aligning with previous studies on more specific surgery types[154, 155], and highlighting the efficacy of this score in capturing the multifaceted comorbidity burden in surgical patients[156]. Urological surgery was a risk factors for advanced AKD and CKD, while other types of surgery were associated with an increased risk for MAKE. These differences probably stem from the fact that the MAKE outcome was largely driven by mortality. Markers of a complicated postoperative course, such as prolonged hospital stays and repeated surgery, were associated with all long-term outcomes, which is consistent with previous studies[153, 155]. Our study confirms findings from other settings[20, 21, 157], suggesting AKD to be a key driver for the development of advanced CKD and MAKE also after surgery. The primary outcome, advanced CKD, is important since it aligns with the eGFRthreshold of 30 ml/kg/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, at which referral to specialized nephrology care is recommended[12]. This patient group experiences considerable morbidity and mortality[158], and identification of those at risk already in the perioperative period could enable early interventions aimed at improving outcomes.

#### RRI and long-term outcomes after surgery

In study III, two-thirds of patients with advanced CKD within the first postoperative year had not experienced advanced AKD in the near postoperative period. Instead, most cases had probably transitioned from lighter forms of AKD not captured in our data, or from other triggering events than the surgical procedure. Additional measures, such as RRI, may help identify these high-risk patients at an earlier stage. Elevated RRI measured in a clinically stable phase has shown associations with renal or cardiovascular outcomes in specific out-patient populations[99-101], but our results from study IV was the first to show this association also in a surgical cohort. Interestingly, associations with all long-term outcomes were stronger for RRI than for several traditional risk factors such as hypertension and diabetes mellitus. This indicates that RRI is a sensitive marker for subclinical cardiovascular disease, and it is possible that the elevated RRI observed in these patients represents the systemic atherosclerotic burden, as proposed in previous studies[55-57]. Preoperative RRI may thus serve as an early quantifiable risk measure for long-term postoperative prognosis, reflecting the comprehensive risk profile of the individual patient.

Patients with diminished renal functional reserve capacity, meaning patients whose kidneys lack capacity to further increase GFR, are at the highest risk of renal function decline following a renal insult[45]. Interestingly, RRI has demonstrated to accurately reflect measured renal functional reserve capacity[159, 160], which might explain its promising role in predicting long-term renal outcomes. In our study, preoperative RRI ≥0.70 had an AUC of 74% for prediction of long-term eGFR-decline, which is considered to be in the range of acceptable to good for most prediction models[161]. However, less than half of the patients with elevated RRI developed long-term outcomes during followup, as reflected by the PPV of only 46% in our cohort. This suggests that RRI measurements alone are insufficient to rule in high-risk patients and should be combined with other diagnostic measures for better predictive performance. Nevertheless, elevated RRI constitutes a warning signal and could be utilized as a bedside screening tool for an increased risk of CKD, recurrent AKI with progression along the AKI-AKD-CKD continuum, and development of cardiovascular complications in surgical patients. The NPV of 92% in our cohort indicated that a normal RRI effectively ruled out low-risk patients in this setting. However, it is important to note that our study was not primarily designed for prediction purposes. Future properly designed studies are needed to better explore the utility of RRI, as well as determine its optimal cut-offs, for the prediction of long-term outcomes in perioperative and critical care settings.

# 7 Conclusions

RRI measurements, by quantifying renal hemodynamics and patient-specific risk factors, have a role for the assessment of renal outcomes in perioperative and critical care.

- RRI measurements are feasible within POCUS, and most clinicians can learn the technique following a focused training session.
- RRI was associated with AKI in critically ill COVID-19 patients during the first wave of the pandemic, and the method could effetively be implemented for clinical research during a period of limited resources.
- RRI may be helpful to identify AKI, oliguria, and renal recovery at the bedside.
- Advanced CKD after surgery is a rare but clinically significant outcome. Important
  perioperative risk factors include a high ASA score and undergoing urological or
  extensive surgery. Advanced AKD is a key driver for advanced CKD development
  and MAKE, but clinicians should be vigilant in all high-risk patients undergoing
  surgery.
- Elevated preoperative RRI is associated with persistent renal dysfunction, and long-term MAKE and MACE after cardiac surgery.
- As a screening tool or in combination with other factors, RRI could serve as a risk measure to help identify high-risk surgical patients requiring intensified clinical care and long-term follow-up.

### 8 Future perspectives

Renal POCUS, integrating RRI, will certainly play a role as part of the clinical examination for patients treated in the ICU or presenting for surgery in the future (*Table 11*).

In the short-term perioperative and critical care settings, elevated RRI may indicate a very early signal for kidney injury, offering a therapeutic window for interventions. Prospective studies with repeated measurements are needed to determine if RRI is a reasonable therapeutic target in these situations. To enhance predictive performance, RRI measurements should probably be combined with other measures such as resistive indices from other organ systems, or Doppler readings of renal venous outflow. Isolated RRI elevations may suggest an intrarenal cause, while simultaneously elevated resistive indices in arteries of the brain, liver, or spleen may indicate a systemic process[4, 64]. The effective arterial renal perfusion time during the cardiac cycle can easily be evaluated from RRI readings in combination with real-time electrocardiographic tracings, and has shown better diagnostic accuracy for persistent AKI in the ICU compared to RRI alone[162]. Use of the venous excess ultrasound (VExUS) score, which combines venous Doppler readings from kidneys, hepatic veins, and the portal vein, has shown promise as a bedside tool for quantification of fluid overload[163]. With increased congestion, venous flows transition from continuous to more pulsatile, and high VExUS scores have been associated with adverse renal events after cardiac surgery[64, 79] and in mixed ICU patients[164]. The diagnostic accuracy for predicting AKI resulting from fluid overload, congestion, or increased intraabdominal pressure may be best assessed by combining RRI and venous Doppler, thereby assessing the arterio-venous coupling[79, 165]. Contrast-enhanced ultrasonography (CEUS) combines renal ultrasonography with microbubble-based contrast agents and offers a more detailed assessment of renal microperfusion.[166] CEUS has shown to detect regional RBF disturbances in patients with septic AKI[167], but its predictive performance for AKI in the ICU has not shown to be superior to that of RRI[168], while its feasibility as a POCUS method has been questioned[76, 169].

In the long-term perioperative setting, RRI measured in a clinically stable phase could serve as a risk measure to identify high-risk patients. Incorporating RRI into scoring systems for prognostication of short-term complications after specific surgery types has been proposed[170], and our findings suggest this should be explored also for long-term risk assessment in properly designed prediction studies. For prediction of AKI, novel biomarkers have generally not increased the diagnostic accuracy of RRI[72, 171]. However, biomarkers focusing on long-term renal adverse events, in combination with RRI, other POCUS measures, and clinical risk factors, are yet to be investigated.

Furthermore, investigating the role of RRI as a therapeutic target for preventing CKD progression warrants attention. Treatment with sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors[172] or angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitors[173] have shown to decrease RRI, and although these drugs have shown to reduce mortality in certain high-risk populations[43, 174, 175], the impact of this RRI decrease on clinical outcomes is not known.

Table 11. Future applications of RRI within POCUS.	
Repeated measurements during a dynamic clinical course:	
RRI	Characterization and prognostication of AKI
+ RI from brain, liver, spleen + renal venous Doppler + CEUS	Differentiate intrarenal from systemic causes Asses arterio-venous coupling Assess disturbances of microperfusion
RRI	Guide resuscitation (vasopressors, fluids)
+ renal venous Doppler or VExUS	Assess fluid overload Guide de-resuscitation (diuresis, RRT)
Measurements during a stable clinical course:	
RRI	Prognostication of long-term outcomes (as part of a risk score)
	Guide preventive therapies (drugs)

There is a need for further studies on the epidemiology of long-term renal outcomes following intensive care and surgery, including also milder forms of the AKI-AKD-CKD continuum. These studies should incorporate high-resolution registries and comprehensive laboratory data to gain a better understanding of long-term renal outcomes of varying severities. Additionally, research exploring MAKE, particularly post-AKI, is warranted as the absence of MAKE at 30, 90 or 365 days in this context should be considered a clinically meaningful measure of renal-disability-free survival.

### 9 Acknowledgements

This thesis has truly been a journey, and I am grateful to everyone who has supported me and shown interest in my studies. I extend the warmest **thank you** to the following individuals, institutions, building floors, and football teams:

**Max Bell**, my principal supervisor. Thank you for believing in me and always encouraging my ideas. For seeing the nitty gritty of things, and for unmatched cool-headedness (I need it!). For being fun! And most of all, for being kind and caring about me and not only my research. (And thank you for all the money spent.)

**Daniel Hertzberg**, my co-supervisor. You are such an intelligent and likewise warm person, and your passion for the art of research is truly inspiring. Thank you for your never-ending patience, and for delving deep into datasets with me. It took some years, but at last I even picked up a few Stata short commands.

**Claire Rimes-Stigare**, my co-supervisor. Thank you for sharing your knowledge on research, clinical work, kidneys, and for all the encouragement. Your input has always made the manuscripts better. (You are the only sp\*r fan I consider a friend.)

**Matteo Bottai**, my co-supervisor. Many thanks to you and your incredible team of supernatural biostatisticians.

My co-authors. **Naima Kilhamn**, you excel in everything you do. I choose to believe I played a small part in you now being a member of the PMI family, and in the future, when you are my boss, I expect a raise! **Kent Lund**, for your genuine passion for ultrasound. **Olof Jonmarker**, for your ultrasound skills and effectiveness. **Linn Hallqvist**, for the groundwork, your thoughtful input, and most of all for your generosity and kindness. **Ulrik Sartipy**, for sharing your expertise and for having one of the sharpest research minds I have ever encountered.

**Per Nordberg**, my research mentor. Thank you for your advice on research, clinical work, and for convincing me to believe in myself. I am so glad you are now at PMI and FyFa!

The Karolinska Institutet **research school** in epidemiology for clinicians. The quality (and quantity!) of the education was exceptional, and the G19 cohort must be an all-star edition. Thank you to **Cecilia Radkiewicz** for your knowledge and dedication, and a shout-out to my PMI fellows **Ann-Charlotte** and **Jakob**; we learned so much together.

The solid research foundation at PMI. Professor Lars I Eriksson, head of research and education at PMI. You are an inspiring researcher and leader. Professors Eddie Weitzberg and Anders Oldner, you are true role models, always open for discussing research and clinic.

My former and current clinical bosses: **Kristina Hambraeus Jonzon**, **Bijan Darvish**, **Linda Rydén**, **Björn Persson**, and **Andreas Hvarfner**. For appointing me to ANOPIVA, keeping me at PMI, and always supporting me.

**Daniel Ringby**, my clinical mentor. Thank you for involving me, believing in me, and patiently listening to all my worries. Your advice is invaluable, and thanks to you I am a better clinician (and probably a better human being).

Norrbacka plan 4 and 5. Home to outstanding researchers, fellow doctoral students, administrative geniuses, and scheduling wizards at PMI. A special thank you to Jesper Eriksson, Erik von Oelreich, Emma Larsson, and Johan Mårtensson for your support during the final sprint.

All colleagues at PMI. You are the reason we are the best anesthesia and intensive care clinic (I know...) in the world! Because of you, I love going to work every day and night. A shout-out to all the Martins, whom I so many times have been mistaken for, and who I therefore can blame for any of my own missteps!

Jens and Joanna, thank you for the artsy cover illustration.

**Friends and family**, thank you for the welcomed distraction. **Ulla** and **Ulf**, my parents-inlaw, for all the support. My family in Skåne – **mom**, **dad**, and **brother** – you have provided me the best possible foundation in life, and for that I should be more grateful.

**Arsenal FC**. Thank you for making the wait for a lagging Stata enjoyable. The game may not be what it once was (back in 2003–04!), but I suppose that is what long-standing supporters always have said...

**Selma** and **Ines**, my daughters. Thank you for being the two most wonderful and wacky mini-humans. Already so intelligent, so kind, and so FUN to be around. My love for you is endless.

**Sara**, my wife. This thesis would not have been possible without you, but then again, nothing in life would. You are the wisest person I know. Thank you for loving me for who I truly am (and despite my research...). I love you, forever.

### 10 References

- Díaz-Gómez JL, Mayo PH, Koenig SJ: Point-of-Care Ultrasonography. N Engl J Med 2021, 385(17):1593-1602.
- Narula J, Chandrashekhar Y, Braunwald E: Time to Add a Fifth Pillar to Bedside Physical Examination: Inspection, Palpation, Percussion, Auscultation, and Insonation. JAMA Cardiol 2018, 3(4):346–350.
- Hobbs H, Millington S, Wiskar K: Multiorgan Point-of-Care Ultrasound Assessment in Critically III Adults. J Intensive Care Med 2023, 39(3):187-195.
- 4. Denault A, Canty D, Azzam M, Amir A, Gebhard CE: Whole body ultrasound in the operating room and intensive care unit. *Korean J Anesthesiol* 2019, 72(5):413–428.
- Koratala A: Point-of-care renal ultrasound: the SECONDS checklist. Clin Exp Nephrol 2022, 26(5):486-487.
- 6. Kellum JA, Romagnani P, Ashuntantang G, Ronco C, Zarbock A, Anders HJ: Acute kidney injury. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2021, 7(1):52.
- 7. Ronco C, Bellomo R, Kellum JA: Acute kidney injury. The Lancet 2019, 394(10212):1949-1964.
- Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P: Acute renal failure definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. Crit Care 2004, 8(4):R204-212.
- Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, Molitoris BA, Ronco C, Warnock DG, Levin A: Acute Kidney Injury Network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. Crit Care 2007, 11(2):R31.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Acute Kidney Injury Work Group: KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Acute Kidney Injury. Kidney inter., Suppl. 2012;2:1–138.
- Lameire NH, Levin A, Kellum JA, Cheung M, Jadoul M, Winkelmayer WC, Stevens PE: Harmonizing acute and chronic kidney disease definition and classification: report of a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Consensus Conference. *Kidney Int* 2021, 100(3):516–526.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group: KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney inter.*, Suppl. 2013; 3: 1–150.
- Chawla LS, Bellomo R, Bihorac A, Goldstein SL, Siew ED, Bagshaw SM, Bittleman D, Cruz D, Endre Z, Fitzgerald RL et al: Acute kidney disease and renal recovery: consensus report of the Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) 16 Workgroup. Nat Rev Nephrol 2017, 13(4):241–257.
- 14. Chawla LS, Eggers PW, Star RA, Kimmel PL: Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease as interconnected syndromes. *N Engl J Med* 2014, 371(1):58–66.
- Hoste EA, Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R, Cely CM, Colman R, Cruz DN, Edipidis K, Forni LG, Gomersall CD, Govil D et al: Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: the multinational AKI-EPI study. Intensive Care Med 2015, 41(8):1411-1423.
- Pickkers P, Darmon M, Hoste E, Joannidis M, Legrand M, Ostermann M, Prowle JR, Schneider A, Schetz M: Acute kidney injury in the critically ill: an updated review on pathophysiology and management. *Intensive Care Med* 2021, 47(8):835–850.
- Zarbock A, Weiss R, Albert F, Rutledge K, Kellum JA, Bellomo R, Grigoryev E, Candela-Toha AM, Demir ZA, Legros V et al: Epidemiology of surgery associated acute kidney injury (EPIS-AKI): a prospective international observational multi-center clinical study. *Intensive Care Med* 2023, 49(12):1441–1455.
- 18. See EJ, Jayasinghe K, Glassford N, Bailey M, Johnson DW, Polkinghorne KR, Toussaint ND, Bellomo R: Long-term risk of adverse outcomes after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and metaanalysis of cohort studies using consensus definitions of exposure. *Kidney Int* 2019, 95(1):160–172.
- Su CC, Chen JY, Chen SY, Shiao CC, Neyra JA, Matsuura R, Noiri E, See E, Chen YT, Hsu CK et al: Outcomes associated with acute kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. EClinicalMedicine 2023, 55:101760.
- Matsuura R, Iwagami M, Moriya H, Ohtake T, Hamasaki Y, Nangaku M, Doi K, Kobayashi S, Noiri E: The Clinical Course of Acute Kidney Disease after Cardiac Surgery: A Retrospective Observational Study. Sci Rep 2020, 10(1):6490.

- 21. Cho JS, Shim JK, Lee S, Song JW, Choi N, Lee S, Kwak YL: Chronic progression of cardiac surgery associated acute kidney injury: Intermediary role of acute kidney disease. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2021, 161(2):681–688.e3.
- 22. Kellum JA, Sileanu FE, Bihorac A, Hoste EA, Chawla LS: Recovery after Acute Kidney Injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2017, 195(6):784–791.
- Selby NM, Kolhe NV, McIntyre CW, Monaghan J, Lawson N, Elliott D, Packington R, Fluck RJ: Defining the cause of death in hospitalised patients with acute kidney injury. *PLoS One* 2012, 7(11):e48580.
- 24. Silver SA, Harel Z, McArthur E, Nash DM, Acedillo R, Kitchlu A, Garg AX, Chertow GM, Bell CM, Wald R: Causes of Death after a Hospitalization with AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol 2018, 29(3):1001–1010.
- Billings FTt, Shaw AD: Clinical trial endpoints in acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract 2014, 127(1-4):89–93.
- See EJ, Toussaint ND, Bailey M, Johnson DW, Polkinghorne KR, Robbins R, Bellomo R: Risk factors for major adverse kidney events in the first year after acute kidney injury. *Clin Kidney J* 2021, 14(2):556– 563.
- Hicks KA, Mahaffey KW, Mehran R, Nissen SE, Wiviott SD, Dunn B, Solomon SD, Marler JR, Teerlink JR, Farb A et al: 2017 Cardiovascular and Stroke Endpoint Definitions for Clinical Trials. *Circulation* 2018, 137(9):961–972.
- Carlström M, Wilcox CS, Arendshorst WJ: Renal autoregulation in health and disease. *Physiol Rev* 2015, 95(2):405–511.
- Prowle JR, Bellomo R: Sepsis-associated acute kidney injury: macrohemodynamic and microhemodynamic alterations in the renal circulation. Semin Nephrol 2015, 35(1):64–74.
- Peerapornratana S, Manrique-Caballero CL, Gomez H, Kellum JA: Acute kidney injury from sepsis: current concepts, epidemiology, pathophysiology, prevention and treatment. *Kidney Int* 2019, 96(5):1083–1099.
- 31. Joannidis M, Druml W, Forni LG, Groeneveld ABJ, Honore PM, Hoste E, Ostermann M, Oudemans-van Straaten HM, Schetz M: Prevention of acute kidney injury and protection of renal function in the intensive care unit: update 2017 : Expert opinion of the Working Group on Prevention, AKI section, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med* 2017, 43(6):730–749.
- Meersch M, Schmidt C, Hoffmeier A, Van Aken H, Wempe C, Gerss J, Zarbock A: Prevention of cardiac surgery-associated AKI by implementing the KDIGO guidelines in high risk patients identified by biomarkers: the PrevAKI randomized controlled trial. *Intensive Care Med* 2017, 43(11):1551-1561.
- 33. Zarbock A, Kullmar M, Ostermann M, Lucchese G, Baig K, Cennamo A, Rajani R, McCorkell S, Arndt C, Wulf H et al: Prevention of Cardiac Surgery-Associated Acute Kidney Injury by Implementing the KDIGO Guidelines in High-Risk Patients Identified by Biomarkers: The PrevAKI-Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. Anesth Analg 2021, 133(2):292-302.
- Göcze I, Jauch D, Götz M, Kennedy P, Jung B, Zeman F, Gnewuch C, Graf BM, Gnann W, Banas B et al: Biomarker-guided Intervention to Prevent Acute Kidney Injury After Major Surgery: The Prospective Randomized BigpAK Study. Ann Surg 2018, 267(6):1013–1020.
- 35. Zarbock A, Kellum JA, Schmidt C, Van Aken H, Wempe C, Pavenstädt H, Boanta A, Gerß J, Meersch M: Effect of Early vs Delayed Initiation of Renal Replacement Therapy on Mortality in Critically III Patients With Acute Kidney Injury: The ELAIN Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama 2016, 315(20):2190– 2199.
- Gaudry S, Hajage D, Schortgen F, Martin-Lefevre L, Pons B, Boulet E, Boyer A, Chevrel G, Lerolle N, Carpentier D et al: Initiation Strategies for Renal-Replacement Therapy in the Intensive Care Unit. N Engl J Med 2016, 375(2):122–133.
- Barbar SD, Clere-Jehl R, Bourredjem A, Hernu R, Montini F, Bruyère R, Lebert C, Bohé J, Badie J, Eraldi JP et al: Timing of Renal-Replacement Therapy in Patients with Acute Kidney Injury and Sepsis. N Engl J Med 2018, 379(15):1431–1442.
- Bagshaw SM, Wald R, Adhikari NKJ, Bellomo R, da Costa BR, Dreyfuss D, Du B, Gallagher MP, Gaudry S, Hoste EA *et al*: Timing of Initiation of Renal-Replacement Therapy in Acute Kidney Injury. N Engl J Med 2020, 383(3):240-251.
- Ostermann M, Bagshaw SM, Lumlertgul N, Wald R: Indications for and Timing of Initiation of KRT. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2022, 1;18(1):113–120.

- 40. Gaudry S, Hajage D, Martin-Lefevre L, Lebbah S, Louis G, Moschietto S, Titeca-Beauport D, Combe BL, Pons B, de Prost N *et al*: Comparison of two delayed strategies for renal replacement therapy initiation for severe acute kidney injury (AKIKI 2): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, controlled trial. *The Lancet* 2021, 397(10281):1293–1300.
- Silver SA, Goldstein SL, Harel Z, Harvey A, Rompies EJ, Adhikari NK, Acedillo R, Jain AK, Richardson R, Chan CT et al: Ambulatory care after acute kidney injury: an opportunity to improve patient outcomes. Can J Kidney Health Dis 2015, 2:36.
- Silver SA, Adhikari NK, Bell CM, Chan CT, Harel Z, Kitchlu A, Meraz-Muñoz A, Norman PA, Perez A, Zahirieh A *et al*: Nephrologist Follow-Up versus Usual Care after an Acute Kidney Injury Hospitalization (FUSION): A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* 2021, 16(7):1005– 1014.
- Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R, Chertow GM, Greene T, Hou FF, Mann JFE, McMurray JJV, Lindberg M, Rossing P *et al*: Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med 2020, 383(15):1436–1446.
- Bhandari S, Mehta S, Khwaja A, Cleland JGF, Ives N, Brettell E, Chadburn M, Cockwell P: Renin-Angiotensin System Inhibition in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med 2022, 387(22):2021-2032.
- 45. Ronco C, Bellomo R, Kellum J: Understanding renal functional reserve. *Intensive Care Med* 2017, 43(6):917–920.
- 46. Waikar SS, Bonventre JV: Creatinine kinetics and the definition of acute kidney injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009, 20(3):672–679.
- 47. Rumack C, Levine D: Diagnostic Ultrasound, 2-Volumes, 6th edition. Elsevier. 2024.
- 48. Koratala A, Reisinger N: POCUS for Nephrologists: Basic Principles and a General Approach. *Kidney360* 2021, 2(10):1660-1668.
- 49. Tublin ME, Bude RO, Platt JF: Review. The resistive index in renal Doppler sonography: where do we stand? *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2003, 180(4):885–892.
- 50. Schnell D, Darmon M: Renal Doppler to assess renal perfusion in the critically ill: a reappraisal. Intensive Care Med 2012, 38(11):1751-1760.
- 51. Ponte B, Pruijm M, Ackermann D, Vuistiner P, Eisenberger U, Guessous I, Rousson V, Mohaupt MG, Alwan H, Ehret G *et al*: Reference values and factors associated with renal resistive index in a familybased population study. *Hypertension* 2014, 63(1):136–142.
- Keogan MT, Kliewer MA, Hertzberg BS, DeLong DM, Tupler RH, Carroll BA: Renal resistive indexes: variability in Doppler US measurement in a healthy population. *Radiology* 1996, 199(1):165–169.
- Knapp R, Plötzeneder A, Frauscher F, Helweg G, Judmaier W, zur Nedden D, Recheis W, Bartsch G: Variability of Doppler parameters in the healthy kidney: an anatomic-physiologic correlation. J Ultrasound Med 1995, 14(6):427-429.
- 54. Tublin ME, Tessler FN, Murphy ME: Correlation between renal vascular resistance, pulse pressure, and the resistive index in isolated perfused rabbit kidneys. *Radiology* 1999, 213(1):258–264.
- 55. O'Neill WC: Renal resistive index: a case of mistaken identity. Hypertension 2014, 64(5):915-917.
- Hashimoto J, Ito S: Central pulse pressure and aortic stiffness determine renal hemodynamics: pathophysiological implication for microalbuminuria in hypertension. *Hypertension* 2011, 58(5):839– 846.
- 57. Ohta Y, Fujii K, Arima H, Matsumura K, Tsuchihashi T, Tokumoto M, Tsuruya K, Kanai H, Iwase M, Hirakata H *et al*: Increased renal resistive index in atherosclerosis and diabetic nephropathy assessed by Doppler sonography. *J Hypertens* 2005, 23(10):1905–1911.
- Naesens M, Heylen L, Lerut E, Claes K, De Wever L, Claus F, Oyen R, Kuypers D, Evenepoel P, Bammens B et al: Intrarenal resistive index after renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 2013, 369(19):1797–1806.
- Mostbeck GH, Gössinger HD, Mallek R, Siostrzonek P, Schneider B, Tscholakoff D: Effect of heart rate on Doppler measurements of resistive index in renal arteries. *Radiology* 1990, 175(2):511–513.
- 60. Wan L, Yang N, Hiew CY, Schelleman A, Johnson L, May C, Bellomo R: An assessment of the accuracy of renal blood flow estimation by Doppler ultrasound. *Intensive Care Med* 2008, 34(8):1503–1510.
- 61. Raff U, Schwarz TK, Schmidt BM, Schneider MP, Schmieder RE: Renal resistive index--a valid tool to assess renal endothelial function in humans? *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2010, 25(6):1869–1874.

- Kuznetsova T, Cauwenberghs N, Knez J, Thijs L, Liu YP, Gu YM, Staessen JA: Doppler indexes of left ventricular systolic and diastolic flow and central pulse pressure in relation to renal resistive index. *Am J Hypertens* 2015, 28(4):535–545.
- 63. Murphy ME, Tublin ME: Understanding the Doppler RI: impact of renal arterial distensibility on the RI in a hydronephrotic ex vivo rabbit kidney model. *J Ultrasound Med* 2000, 19(5):303–314.
- Beaubien-Souligny W, Denault A, Robillard P, Desjardins G: The Role of Point-of-Care Ultrasound Monitoring in Cardiac Surgical Patients With Acute Kidney Injury. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2019, 33(10):2781–2796.
- 65. lida N, Seo Y, Sai S, Machino-Ohtsuka T, Yamamoto M, Ishizu T, Kawakami Y, Aonuma K: Clinical Implications of Intrarenal Hemodynamic Evaluation by Doppler Ultrasonography in Heart Failure. *JACC Heart Fail* 2016, 4(8):674–682.
- 66. Ştefan G, Florescu C, Sabo AA, Stancu S, Mircescu G: Intrarenal resistive index conundrum: systemic atherosclerosis versus renal arteriolosclerosis. *Ren Fail* 2019, 41(1):930–936.
- 67. Petrucci I, Clementi A, Sessa C, Torrisi I, Meola M: Ultrasound and color Doppler applications in chronic kidney disease. *J Nephrol* 2018, 31(6):863–879.
- Lerolle N, Guerot E, Faisy C, Bornstain C, Diehl JL, Fagon JY: Renal failure in septic shock: predictive value of Doppler-based renal arterial resistive index. *Intensive Care Med* 2006, 32(10):1553–1559.
- 69. Haitsma Mulier JLG, Rozemeijer S, Rottgering JG, Spoelstra-de Man AME, Elbers PWG, Tuinman PR, de Waard MC, Oudemans-van Straaten HM: Renal resistive index as an early predictor and discriminator of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients; A prospective observational cohort study. PLoS One 2018, 13(6):e0197967.
- 70. Song J, Wu W, He Y, Lin S, Zhu D, Zhong M: Value of the combination of renal resistance index and central venous pressure in the early prediction of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury. *J Crit Care* 2018, 45:204–208.
- 71. Darmon M, Schortgen F, Vargas F, Liazydi A, Schlemmer B, Brun-Buisson C, Brochard L: Diagnostic accuracy of Doppler renal resistive index for reversibility of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients. *Intensive Care Med* 2011, 37(1):68–76.
- 72. Garnier F, Daubin D, Larcher R, Bargnoux AS, Platon L, Brunot V, Aarab Y, Besnard N, Dupuy AM, Jung B et al: Reversibility of Acute Kidney Injury in Medical ICU Patients: Predictability Performance of Urinary Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase-2 x Insulin-Like Growth Factor-Binding Protein 7 and Renal Resistive Index. Crit Care Med 2020, 48(4):e277-e284.
- 73. Darmon M, Bourmaud A, Reynaud M, Rouleau S, Meziani F, Boivin A, Benyamina M, Vincent F, Lautrette A, Leroy C *et al*: Performance of Doppler-based resistive index and semi-quantitative renal perfusion in predicting persistent AKI: results of a prospective multicenter study. *Intensive Care Med* 2018, 44(11):1904–1913.
- 74. Schnell D, Bourmaud A, Reynaud M, Rouleau S, Merdji H, Boivin A, Benyamina M, Vincent F, Lautrette A, Leroy C *et al*: Performance of renal Doppler to predict the occurrence of acute kidney injury in patients without acute kidney injury at admission. *J Crit Care* 2022, 69:153983.
- 75. Wiersema R, Kaufmann T, van der Veen HN, de Haas RJ, Franssen CFM, Koeze J, van der Horst ICC, Keus F: Diagnostic accuracy of arterial and venous renal Doppler assessment for acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: A prospective study. *J Crit Care* 2020, 59:57–62.
- Darmon M, Schnell D, Schneider A: Monitoring of renal perfusion. Intensive Care Med 2022, 48(10):1505–1507.
- Bossard G, Bourgoin P, Corbeau JJ, Huntzinger J, Beydon L: Early detection of postoperative acute kidney injury by Doppler renal resistive index in cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. Br J Anaesth 2011, 107(6):891-898.
- Guinot PG, Bernard E, Abou Arab O, Badoux L, Diouf M, Zogheib E, Dupont H: Doppler-based renal resistive index can assess progression of acute kidney injury in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2013, 27(5):890–896.
- 79. Hermansen JL, Pettey G, Sorensen HT, Nel S, Tsabedze N, Horlyck A, Chakane PM, Gammelager H, Juhl-Olsen P: Perioperative Doppler measurements of renal perfusion are associated with acute kidney injury in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. *Sci Rep* 2021, 11(1):19738.
- Marty P, Szatjnic S, Ferre F, Conil JM, Mayeur N, Fourcade O, Silva S, Minville V: Doppler renal resistive index for early detection of acute kidney injury after major orthopaedic surgery: a prospective observational study. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2015, 32(1):37–43.

- Marty P, Ferre F, Labaste F, Jacques L, Luzi A, Conil JM, Silva S, Minville V: The Doppler renal resistive index for early detection of acute kidney injury after hip fracture. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med* 2016, 35(6):377–382.
- Valeri I, Persona P, Pivetta E, De Rosa S, Cescon R, Petranzan E, Antonello M, Grego F, Navalesi P: Renal-Resistive Index and Acute Kidney Injury in Aortic Surgery: An Observational Pilot Study. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2022, 36(8 Pt B):2968–2974.
- Cherry AD, Hauck JN, Andrew BY, Li YJ, Privratsky JR, Kartha LD, Nicoara A, Thompson A, Mathew JP, Stafford-Smith M: Intraoperative renal resistive index threshold as an acute kidney injury biomarker. J Clin Anesth 2020, 61:109626.
- 84. Kajal K, Chauhan R, Negi SL, Gourav KP, Panda P, Mahajan S, Sarna R: Intraoperative evaluation of renal resistive index with transesophageal echocardiography for the assessment of acute renal injury in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: A prospective observational study. Ann Card Anaesth 2022, 25(2):158–163.
- Hertzberg D, Ceder SL, Sartipy U, Lund K, Holzmann MJ: Preoperative Renal Resistive Index Predicts Risk of Acute Kidney Injury in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2017, 31(3):847-852.
- 86. Bellos I, Pergialiotis V, Kontzoglou K: Renal resistive index as predictor of acute kidney injury after major surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Crit Care* 2019, 50:36–43.
- Wu H, Liu K, Darko IN, Xu X, Li L, Xing C, Mao H: Predictive value of renal resistive index for the onset of acute kidney injury and its non-recovery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Nephrol* 2020, 93(4):172–186.
- Schnell D, Deruddre S, Harrois A, Pottecher J, Cosson C, Adoui N, Benhamou D, Vicaut E, Azoulay E, Duranteau J: Renal resistive index better predicts the occurrence of acute kidney injury than cystatin C. Shock 2012, 38(6):592–597.
- Rozemeijer S, Haitsma Mulier JLG, Röttgering JG, Elbers PWG, Spoelstra-de Man AME, Tuinman PR, de Waard MC, Oudemans-van Straaten HM: Renal Resistive Index: Response to Shock and its Determinants in Critically III Patients. Shock 2019, 52(1):43-51.
- Corradi F, Brusasco C, Vezzani A, Palermo S, Altomonte F, Moscatelli P, Pelosi P: Hemorrhagic shock in polytrauma patients: early detection with renal Doppler resistive index measurements. *Radiology* 2011, 260(1):112–118.
- Anile A, Ferrario S, Campanello L, Orban MA, Castiglione G: Renal resistive index: a new reversible tool for the early diagnosis and evaluation of organ perfusion in critically ill patients: a case report. Ultrasound J 2019, 11(1):23.
- 92. Beaubien-Souligny W, Huard G, Bouchard J, Lamarche Y, Denault A, Albert M: Doppler Renal Resistance Index for the Prediction of Response to Passive Leg-Raising Following Cardiac Surgery. J Clin Ultrasound 2018, 46(7):455-460.
- Ferre F, Marty P, Folcher C, Kurrek M, Minville V: Effect of fluid challenge on renal resistive index after major orthopaedic surgery: A prospective observational study using Doppler ultrasonography. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med* 2019, 38(2):147–152.
- 94. Moussa MD, Scolletta S, Fagnoul D, Pasquier P, Brasseur A, Taccone FS, Vincent JL, De Backer D: Effects of fluid administration on renal perfusion in critically ill patients. *Crit Care* 2015, 19:250.
- 95. Schnell D, Camous L, Guyomarc'h S, Duranteau J, Canet E, Gery P, Dumenil AS, Zeni F, Azoulay E, Darmon M: Renal perfusion assessment by renal Doppler during fluid challenge in sepsis. *Crit Care Med* 2013, 41(5):1214–1220.
- Lahmer T, Rasch S, Schnappauf C, Schmid RM, Huber W: Influence of volume administration on Doppler-based renal resistive index, renal hemodynamics and renal function in medical intensive care unit patients with septic-induced acute kidney injury: a pilot study. *Int Urol Nephrol* 2016, 48(8):1327–1334.
- Dewitte A, Coquin J, Meyssignac B, Joannes-Boyau O, Fleureau C, Roze H, Ripoche J, Janvier G, Combe C, Ouattara A: Doppler resistive index to reflect regulation of renal vascular tone during sepsis and acute kidney injury. *Crit Care* 2012, 16(5):R165.
- 98. Deruddre S, Cheisson G, Mazoit JX, Vicaut E, Benhamou D, Duranteau J: Renal arterial resistance in septic shock: effects of increasing mean arterial pressure with norepinephrine on the renal resistive index assessed with Doppler ultrasonography. *Intensive Care Med* 2007, 33(9):1557–1562.

- Doi Y, Iwashima Y, Yoshihara F, Kamide K, Hayashi S, Kubota Y, Nakamura S, Horio T, Kawano Y: Renal resistive index and cardiovascular and renal outcomes in essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 2012, 60(3):770–777.
- 100. Nosadini R, Velussi M, Brocco E, Abaterusso C, Carraro A, Piarulli F, Morgia G, Satta A, Faedda R, Abhyankar A et al: Increased renal arterial resistance predicts the course of renal function in type 2 diabetes with microalbuminuria. *Diabetes* 2006, 55(1):234–239.
- Sugiura T, Wada A: Resistive index predicts renal prognosis in chronic kidney disease: results of a 4year follow-up. *Clin Exp Nephrol* 2011, 15(1):114–120.
- 102. Parolini C, Noce A, Staffolani E, Giarrizzo GF, Costanzi S, Splendiani G: Renal resistive index and longterm outcome in chronic nephropathies. *Radiology* 2009, 252(3):888–896.
- 103. Hanamura K, Tojo A, Kinugasa S, Asaba K, Fujita T: The resistive index is a marker of renal function, pathology, prognosis, and responsiveness to steroid therapy in chronic kidney disease patients. Int J Nephrol 2012, 2012:139565.
- 104. Toledo C, Thomas G, Schold JD, Arrigain S, Gornik HL, Nally JV, Navaneethan SD: Renal resistive index and mortality in chronic kidney disease. *Hypertension* 2015, 66(2):382–388.
- 105. Radermacher J, Ellis S, Haller H: Renal resistance index and progression of renal disease. Hypertension 2002, 39(2 Pt 2):699-703.
- 106. Romano G, Mioni R, Danieli N, Bertoni M, Croatto E, Merla L, Alcaro L, Pedduzza A, Metcalf X, Rigamonti A *et al*: Elevated Intrarenal Resistive Index Predicted Faster Renal Function Decline and Long-Term Mortality in Non-Proteinuric Chronic Kidney Disease. J Clin Med 2022, 11(11):2995.
- 107. Larsson E, Brattström O, Agvald-Öhman C, Grip J, Campoccia Jalde F, Strålin K, Nauclér P, Oldner A, Konrad D, Persson BP et al: Characteristics and outcomes of patients with COVID-19 admitted to ICU in a tertiary hospital in Stockholm, Sweden. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2021, 65(1):76-81.
- Eriksson KE, Campoccia-Jalde F, Rysz S, Rimes-Stigare C: Continuous renal replacement therapy in intensive care patients with COVID-19; survival and renal recovery. J Crit Care 2021, 64:125-130.
- Hertzberg D, Renberg M, Nyman J, Bell M, Rimes Stigare C: Experiences of Renal Replacement Therapy Delivery in Swedish Intensive Care Units during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Blood Purif* 2021:1-6.
- 110. Helms J, Tacquard C, Severac F, Leonard-Lorant I, Ohana M, Delabranche X, Merdji H, Clere-Jehl R, Schenck M, Fagot Gandet F *et al*: High risk of thrombosis in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection: a multicenter prospective cohort study. *Intensive Care Med* 2020, 46(6):1089–1098.
- Su H, Yang M, Wan C, Yi LX, Tang F, Zhu HY, Yi F, Yang HC, Fogo AB, Nie X *et al*: Renal histopathological analysis of 26 postmortem findings of patients with COVID-19 in China. *Kidney Int* 2020, 98(1):219– 227.
- 112. Hussain A, Via G, Melniker L, Goffi A, Tavazzi G, Neri L, Villen T, Hoppmann R, Mojoli F, Noble V et al: Multi-organ point-of-care ultrasound for COVID-19 (PoCUS4COVID): international expert consensus. Crit Care 2020, 24(1):702.
- 113. Boddi M, Bonizzoli M, Chiostri M, Begliomini D, Molinaro A, Tadini Buoninsegni L, Gensini GF, Peris A: Renal Resistive Index and mortality in critical patients with acute kidney injury. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2016, 46(3):242–251.
- 114. The National Board of Health and Welfare in Sweden, National Patient Register [Internet]. https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-data/registers/national-patient-register/. Accessed Januari 2024.
- Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim JL, Reuterwall C, Heurgren M, Olausson PO: External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. *BMC Public Health* 2011, 11:450.
- 116. The National Board of Health and Welfare in Sweden, National Prescribed Drug Register [Internet]. https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-data/registers/national-prescribed-drugregister/. Accessed Januari 2024.
- 117. Wettermark B, Hammar N, Fored CM, Leimanis A, Otterblad Olausson P, Bergman U, Persson I, Sundström A, Westerholm B, Rosén M: The new Swedish Prescribed Drug Register--opportunities for pharmacoepidemiological research and experience from the first six months. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf* 2007, 16(7):726–735.

- 118. The National Board of Health and Welfare in Sweden, National Cause of Death Register [Internet]. https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-data/registers/national-cause-of-death-register/. Accessed Januari 2024.
- 119. Brooke HL, Talbäck M, Hörnblad J, Johansson LA, Ludvigsson JF, Druid H, Feychting M, Ljung R: The Swedish cause of death register. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2017, 32(9):765–773.
- 120. The Swedish Renal Register [Internet]. https://www.medscinet.net/snr/default.aspx. Accessed Januari 2024.
- 121. Schön S, Ekberg H, Wikström B, Odén A, Ahlmén J: Renal replacement therapy in Sweden. Scand J Urol Nephrol 2004, 38(4):332–339.
- 122. Koo TK, Li MY: A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. J Chiropr Med 2016, 15(2):155–163.
- 123. Shrout PE, Fleiss JL: Intraclass correlations: uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychol Bull* 1979, 86(2):420-428.
- 124. Hallqvist L, Granath F, Bell M: Myocardial infarction after noncardiac surgery in Sweden: a national, retrospective observational cohort study. *Br J Anaesth* 2020, 125(1):47–54.
- 125. Friberg L, Gasparini A, Carrero JJ: A scheme based on ICD-10 diagnoses and drug prescriptions to stage chronic kidney disease severity in healthcare administrative records. *Clin Kidney J* 2018, 11(2):254–258.
- American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) [Internet]. https://www.asahq.org/standards-andpractice-parameters/statement-on-asa-physical-status-classification-system. Accessed Januari 2024.
- 127. Fine JP, Gray RJ: A Proportional Hazards Model for the Subdistribution of a Competing Risk. *Journal* of the American Statistical Association 1999, 94(446):496–509.
- 128. Inker LA, Eneanya ND, Coresh J, Tighiouart H, Wang D, Sang Y, Crews DC, Doria A, Estrella MM, Froissart M et al: New Creatinine- and Cystatin C-Based Equations to Estimate GFR without Race. N Engl J Med 2021, 385(19):1737-1749.
- Gosling AF, Andrew BY, Stafford-Smith M, Nicoara A, Cherry AD: Renal-Resistive Index for Prediction of Acute Kidney Injury in the Setting of Aortic Insufficiency. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2021, 35(12):3819–3825.
- 130. Lash TL, VanderWeele TJ, Haneuse S, Rothman KJ: Modern Epidemiology, 4th edition. Wolters Kluwer. 2021.
- 131. Siew ED, Matheny ME: Choice of Reference Serum Creatinine in Defining Acute Kidney Injury. Nephron 2015, 131(2):107-112.
- 132. Vittinghoff E, McCulloch CE: Relaxing the rule of ten events per variable in logistic and Cox regression. *Am J Epidemiol* 2007, 165(6):710–718.
- 133. Austin PC, Fine JP: Practical recommendations for reporting Fine-Gray model analyses for competing risk data. *Stat Med* 2017, 36(27):4391–4400.
- 134. Nadim MK, Forni LG, Bihorac A, Hobson C, Koyner JL, Shaw A, Arnaoutakis GJ, Ding X, Engelman DT, Gasparovic H et al: Cardiac and Vascular Surgery-Associated Acute Kidney Injury: The 20th International Consensus Conference of the ADQI (Acute Disease Quality Initiative) Group. J Am Heart Assoc 2018, 7(11):e008834.
- 135. Pagano M, Gauvreau K, Mattie H: Principles of Biostatistics, 3rd edition. Chapman and Hall. 2022.
- 136. Beloncle F, Rousseau N, Hamel JF, Donzeau A, Foucher AL, Custaud MA, Asfar P, Robert R, Lerolle N: Determinants of Doppler-based renal resistive index in patients with septic shock: impact of hemodynamic parameters, acute kidney injury and predisposing factors. Ann Intensive Care 2019, 9(1):51.
- Boddi M, Sacchi S, Lammel RM, Mohseni R, Serneri GG: Age-related and vasomotor stimuli-induced changes in renal vascular resistance detected by Doppler ultrasound. Am J Hypertens 1996, 9(5):461–466.
- 138. Schnell D, Reynaud M, Venot M, Le Maho AL, Dinic M, Baulieu M, Ducos G, Terreaux J, Zeni F, Azoulay E et al: Resistive Index or color-Doppler semi-quantitative evaluation of renal perfusion by inexperienced physicians: results of a pilot study. *Minerva Anestesiol* 2014, 80(12):1273–1281.
- 139. Saade A, Bourmaud A, Schnell D, Darmon M: Performance of Doppler-Based Resistive Index and Semiquantitative Renal Perfusion in Predicting Persistent Acute Kidney Injury According to Operator

Experience: Post Hoc Analysis of a Prospective Multicenter Study. *Crit Care Med* 2022, 1;50(4):e361-e369.

- 140. Dupriez F, Hall A, Diop T, Collard A, de Castro BR, Smets F, Penaloza A, Vanpee D: Point-of-Care Ultrasound training in undergraduate education in the European Union: current situation and perspectives. Ultrasound J 2024, 16(1):9.
- 141. Sohaey R, Di Salvo DN, Bluth El, Lockhart ME, Cohen HL, Pellerito JS, Baltarowich OH, Nisenbaum HL, Coleman BG: Medical Student Ultrasound Education: The Radiology Chair Weighs In. Ultrasound Q 2021, 37(1):3–9.
- 142. Koratala A, Olaoye OA, Bhasin-Chhabra B, Kazory A: A Blueprint for an Integrated Point-of-Care Ultrasound Curriculum for Nephrology Trainees. *Kidney360* 2021, 2(10):1669–1676.
- 143. Robba C, Wong A, Poole D, Al Tayar A, Arntfield RT, Chew MS, Corradi F, Doufle G, Goffi A, Lamperti M et al: Basic ultrasound head-to-toe skills for intensivists in the general and neuro intensive care unit population: consensus and expert recommendations of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med 2021;47(12):1347–1367.
- 144. Watchorn J, Huang DY, Joslin J, Bramham K, Hutchings SD: Critically III COVID-19 Patients With Acute Kidney Injury Have Reduced Renal Blood Flow and Perfusion Despite Preserved Cardiac Function: A Case-Control Study Using Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound. Shock 2021, 55(4):479-487.
- 145. Fogagnolo A, Grasso S, Dres M, Gesualdo L, Murgolo F, Morelli E, Ottaviani I, Marangoni E, Volta CA, Spadaro S: Focus on renal blood flow in mechanically ventilated patients with SARS-CoV-2: a prospective pilot study. J Clin Monit Comput 2021:1-7.
- 146. Cruz EG, Broca Garcia BE, Sandoval DM, Gopar-Nieto R, Gonzalez Ruiz FJ, Gallardo LD, Ronco C, Madero M, Vasquez Jimenez E: Renal Resistive Index as a Predictor of Acute Kidney Injury and Mortality in COVID-19 Critically III Patients. *Blood Purif* 2021:1-8.
- 147. Luther T, Eckerborn P, Cox E, Lipcsey M, Bulow S, Hultstrom M, Torrente FM, Weis J, Palm F, Francis S et al: Decreased renal perfusion during acute kidney injury in critical COVID-19 assessed by magnetic resonance imaging: a prospective case control study. Crit Care 2022, 26(1):262.
- 148. Legrand M, Bell S, Forni L, Joannidis M, Koyner JL, Liu K, Cantaluppi V: Pathophysiology of COVID-19– associated acute kidney injury. *Nat Rev Nephrol* 2021, 17(11):751–764.
- 149. Bell S, Perkins GB, Anandh U, Coates PT: COVID and the Kidney: An Update. Semin Nephrol 2024:151471.
- 150. Ronco C, Reis T, Husain-Syed F: Management of acute kidney injury in patients with COVID-19. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2020, 8(7):738-742.
- 151. Shankar V, Raj A, Singhal S, Sahni R, Goyal N, Venuthurimilli A, Olson MT, Chatterji C: Doppler-derived renal resistive index helps predict acute kidney injury in patients undergoing living-related liver transplantation. *Clin Transplant* 2021, 35(5):e14263.
- 152. Prowle JR, Forni LG, Bell M, Chew MS, Edwards M, Grams ME, Grocott MPW, Liu KD, McIlroy D, Murray PT et al: Postoperative acute kidney injury in adult non-cardiac surgery: joint consensus report of the Acute Disease Quality Initiative and PeriOperative Quality Initiative. Nat Rev Nephrol 2021, 17(9):605–618.
- 153. Meersch M, Weiss R, Strauss C, Albert F, Booke H, Forni L, Pittet JF, Kellum JA, Rosner M, Mehta R et al: Acute kidney disease beyond day 7 after major surgery: a secondary analysis of the EPIS-AKI trial. Intensive Care Med 2024, 50(2):247-257.
- 154. Gameiro J, Neves JB, Rodrigues N, Bekerman C, Melo MJ, Pereira M, Teixeira C, Mendes I, Jorge S, Rosa R et al: Acute kidney injury, long-term renal function and mortality in patients undergoing major abdominal surgery: a cohort analysis. Clin Kidney J 2016, 9(2):192–200.
- 155. Collaborative ST: Impact of postoperative acute kidney injury in patients undergoing major gastrointestinal surgery on 1-year survival and renal outcomes: a national multicentre cohort study. BJS Open 2021, 5(6):zrab134.
- 156. Li G, Walco JP, Mueller DA, Wanderer JP, Freundlich RE: Reliability of the ASA Physical Status Classification System in Predicting Surgical Morbidity: a Retrospective Analysis. J Med Syst 2021, 45(9):83.
- See EJ, Polkinghorne KR, Toussaint ND, Bailey M, Johnson DW, Bellomo R: Epidemiology and Outcomes of Acute Kidney Diseases: A Comparative Analysis. Am J Nephrol 2021, 52(4):342–350.
- 158. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2020, 395(10225):709–733.

- 159. Samoni S, Nalesso F, Meola M, Villa G, De Cal M, De Rosa S, Petrucci I, Brendolan A, Rosner MH, Ronco C: Intra-Parenchymal Renal Resistive Index Variation (IRRIV) Describes Renal Functional Reserve (RFR): Pilot Study in Healthy Volunteers. *Front Physiol* 2016, 7:286.
- 160. Samoni S, Villa G, De Rosa S, Neri M, Tofani L, Husain-Syed F, De Cal M, Nalesso F, Meola M, Ronco C: The relationship between intra-parenchymal renal resistive index variation and renal functional reserve in healthy subjects. J Nephrol 2021, 34(2):403-409.
- 161. de Hond AAH, Steyerberg EW, van Calster B: Interpreting area under the receiver operating characteristic curve. *Lancet Digit Health* 2022, 4(12):e853–e855.
- 162. Corradi F, Santori G, Brusasco C, Robba C, Wong A, Di Nicolo P, Tecchi L, Dazzi F, Taddei E, Isirdi A et al: Electrocardiographic Time-Intervals Waveforms as Potential Predictors for Severe Acute Kidney Injury in Critically III Patients. J Clin Med 2023, 12(2):700.
- 163. Beaubien–Souligny W, Rola P, Haycock K, Bouchard J, Lamarche Y, Spiegel R, Denault AY: Quantifying systemic congestion with Point–Of–Care ultrasound: development of the venous excess ultrasound grading system. Ultrasound J 2020, 12(1):16.
- 164. Spiegel R, Teeter W, Sullivan S, Tupchong K, Mohammed N, Sutherland M, Leibner E, Rola P, Galvagno SM, Jr., Murthi SB: The use of venous Doppler to predict adverse kidney events in a general ICU cohort. Crit Care 2020, 24(1):615.
- 165. Brusasco C, Tavazzi G, Cucciolini G, Di Nicolo P, Wong A, Di Domenico A, Germinale F, Dotta F, Micali M, Coccolini F *et al*: Perioperative Renal Ultrasonography of Arterio-to-Venous Coupling Predicts Postoperative Complications after Major Laparoscopic Urologic Surgery. *J Clin Med* 2023, 12(15):5013.
- 166. Schneider A, Johnson L, Goodwin M, Schelleman A, Bellomo R: Bench-to-bedside review: contrast enhanced ultrasonography--a promising technique to assess renal perfusion in the ICU. *Crit Care* 2011, 15(3):157.
- 167. Watchorn J, Huang D, Bramham K, Hutchings S: Decreased renal cortical perfusion, independent of changes in renal blood flow and sublingual microcirculatory impairment, is associated with the severity of acute kidney injury in patients with septic shock. *Crit Care* 2022, 26(1):261.
- 168. Yoon HE, Kim DW, Kim D, Kim Y, Shin SJ, Shin YR: A pilot trial to evaluate the clinical usefulness of contrast-enhanced ultrasound in predicting renal outcomes in patients with acute kidney injury. *PLoS One* 2020, 15(6):e0235130.
- 169. Schneider AG, Goodwin MD, Schelleman A, Bailey M, Johnson L, Bellomo R: Contrast-enhanced ultrasonography to evaluate changes in renal cortical microcirculation induced by noradrenaline: a pilot study. Crit Care 2014, 18(6):653.
- Giustiniano E, Procopio F, Morenghi E, Gollo Y, Rocchi L, Ruggieri N, Lascari V, Torzilli G, Cecconi M: Renal resistive index as a predictor of postoperative complications in liver resection surgery. Observational study. J Clin Monit Comput 2021, 35(4):731-740.
- 171. Zaouter C, Potvin J, Bats ML, Beauvieux MC, Remy A, Ouattara A: A combined approach for the early recognition of acute kidney injury after adult cardiac surgery. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med* 2018, 37(4):335–341.
- 172. Solini A, Giannini L, Seghieri M, Vitolo E, Taddei S, Ghiadoni L, Bruno RM: Dapagliflozin acutely improves endothelial dysfunction, reduces aortic stiffness and renal resistive index in type 2 diabetic patients: a pilot study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2017, 16(1):138.
- 173. Gioia MI, Parisi G, Grande D, Albanese M, Alcidi G, Correale M, Brunetti ND, Ciccone MM, Iacoviello M: Effects of Sacubitril/Valsartan on the Renal Resistance Index. *J Clin Med* 2022, 11(13):3683.
- 174. McMurray JJV, Solomon SD, Inzucchi SE, Køber L, Kosiborod MN, Martinez FA, Ponikowski P, Sabatine MS, Anand IS, Bělohlávek J et al: Dapagliflozin in Patients with Heart Failure and Reduced Ejection Fraction. N Engl J Med 2019, 381(21):1995–2008.
- 175. McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K *et al*: Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 2014, 371(11):993-1004.